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DAY 1 – 29 SEPTEMBER 2015 

 

  [10.01 am] 

 

SJH:   Yes, good morning.  All right, if we could just record appearances 5 

please.  Ms Scott, you are with Ms Sinclair for the Council? 

 

MS SCOTT:   Yes, good morning, sir. 

 

SJH:   Ms Wedde, is it? 10 

 

MS WEDDE:   Yes, here for the Crown, sir. 

 

SJH:   For the Crown.  Ms Arthur-Young, you are for KiwiRail? 

 15 

MS ARTHUR-YOUNG:   Yes, sir. 

 

SJH:   All right, thank you.  Are there any other representations?  All right, 

thank you.  All, right, Ms Scott, we will go to your opening then. 

 20 

MS SCOTT:   Yes, thank you, sir.  I have filed written opening submissions 

and I understand you have a copy of them.   

 

 The stage 2 proposal for transport, it relates specifically to what is 

called the Transport zone which provides for activities that occur 25 

within the transport corridors.  So this includes road and rail corridors 

and, although the majority of evidence you will hear today relates to 

the rail corridor, the rules of course also apply across the road 

corridors.   

 30 

 The evidence that has been filed is on some remaining and discrete 

matters of disagreement between the Council, the Crown and KiwiRail, 

and I have summarised there in paragraph 1.2 those areas.  Essentially 

the question is what adjoining zone rules should be applicable in the 

Transport zone and the Council’s position is that the Industrial General, 35 

Rural Urban Fringe and Residential Suburban zone rules and associated 

activity statuses should be applicable when the adjoining zones to the 

Transport zone are any of the Industrial, Rural or Residential zonings.   

 

 I just want to clarify there, sir, the legal submissions filed by KiwiRail 40 

at paragraph 3.3(b) appear to incorrectly state the Council’s position to 

be that the adjoining zone rules only come into - - - 

 

SJH:   2.3? 

 45 

MS SCOTT:   3.3(b). 
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SJH:   Right. 

 

MS SCOTT:   On page 5. 

 5 

SJH:   So what do you say the error is there? 

 

MS SCOTT:   That paragraph (b) there implies that the adjoining zone rules are 

only applicable if the adjoining zone is Rural Urban Fringe, Industrial 

General or Residential Suburban.  In fact the Council’s position is that 10 

the zone rules come across it if it is any type of Industrial, Rural or 

Residential but the rules that can apply in the Transport zone are 

limited to Industrial General, Rural Urban Fringe and Residential 

Suburban.   

 15 

DR MITCHELL:   So just to be clear, if it is adjacent to Rural zone it is the 

Rural Urban Fringe rules that apply irrespective of which Rural zoning 

it is, ditto Residential, ditto - - - 

 

MS SCOTT:   For Industrial. 20 

 

DR MITCHELL:   Industrial. 

 

MS SCOTT:   That is correct, yes. 

 25 

DR MITCHELL:   Thank you. 

 

MS SCOTT:   So at paragraph 1.2(a) subparagraph (ii), whether the height 

limits, maximum area of buildings, setback and recession planes that 

apply to any new transport infrastructure and additions to existing 30 

transport infrastructure should also apply to those activities permitted. 

 

  [10.05 am] 

 

 And then whether non-transport uses within the designated rail corridor 35 

should be required to be relocatable activities and, finally, an issue as to 

setbacks and more specifically Council’s position is that a 1.5 metre 

setback within all of the Transport zone is appropriate up against the 

rail corridor whereas KiwiRail seek four metres for non-designated 

land and zero metres for designated land. 40 

 

 You will hear from the New Zealand Transport Agency on behalf of 

the Crown.  The Crown and the Council are largely aligned in their 

view and essentially there are some remaining drafting issues but the 

Crown’s position is in essence more conservative than the Council’s. 45 

 



 Page 3 

  

Ch7: Transport (Part) Commenced 29.09.15 

 Mr McKee, he has an interest, he is a landowner within the Transport 

zone, he has not filed any evidence but there is a memorandum before 

you confirming his full agreement with the rebuttal evidence of 

Mr Falconer for the Council.  Ms Ross has also filed a statement.  

Ms Ross seeks to have community markets removed from the list of 5 

permitted activities and this relates to the Lyttelton Farmers Market.  I 

understand there are some other submitters coming today to talk to you 

about the farmers market. 

 

 Just for completeness I do say there in paragraph 1.6 that the 10 

submissions were deferred from stage 1 commercial and came across to 

this hearing. 

 

SJH:   Just on that one, you will know that we have had this memorandum of 

the 24th of (ph 2.06) 2015 of another problem that has arisen.  Are all 15 

of the issues raised by the farmers market submitters part of this 

hearing or are they covered by that memorandum?  Because there is so 

much danger of people slipping through the cracks in this and we are 

almost in despair in the position the Council has placed us in, Ms Scott. 

 20 

MS SCOTT:   So in stage 1 there was a permitted activity in the commercial 

chapter in 15.5.2.1 and that was deleted in the recommended provisions 

in stage 1.  And then the Transport zone included a similar rule as a 

permitted activity within the Transport zone given the Council’s 

application for the Panel not to make a decision in stage 1 on the land 25 

that is now zoned as Transport. 

 

SJH:   Yes, but did you notify all the submitters in stage 1 if they wanted to 

submit this is the appropriate place to submit? 

 30 

MS SCOTT:   Yes, and the submissions made - - - 

 

SJH:   Do we have counsel’s assurance of that? 

 

MS SCOTT:   That the submissions made - - - 35 

 

SJH:   Not the Council’s, counsel, your assurance of that? 

 

MS SCOTT:   That we have taken the submissions from stage 1 and considered 

them in stage 2? 40 

 

SJH:   Yes. 

 

MS SCOTT:   I can give you that assurance. 

 45 

SJH:   Thank you. 
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MS SCOTT:   And, finally, just there is an issue as to the scope of Orion’s 

further submission that they have made on this chapter.  I address this 

in writing at the end of these legal submissions and I understand that 

counsel for Orion has essentially filed legal submissions this morning 5 

but asked not to appear at the hearing, just relying on the submissions 

that we have filed.   

 

 In section 2, background, the Transport zone replaces what was in 

Operative City Plan the Special Purpose Road, Rail and Pedestrian 10 

Precinct zones so they are the three zones that will need to be replaced 

by the Panel’s decision in this hearing.   

 

 At paragraph 2.2 I talk about some scope issues there and I do note we 

spoke at the pre-hearing conference about some matters as to scope.  15 

Submissions were made on stage 1 provisions and some submissions 

have been made on matters that are not within the scope of the DPR.  

(ph 4.38)  Council officers have spoken to all of those submitters and I 

do note that the statement has been filed by one of those submitters and 

to be taken into account by the Panel, we have got not issues with that. 20 

 

 In Section 3 higher order documents, none of these are new to you, sir, 

but I just refer you to of course the strategic directions chapter, the 

RPS, the CCRP and the statement of expectations.  It is also submitted 

that proposals 15 and 16 of the proposed plan are of relevance to the 25 

position being advanced by KiwiRail.  The commercial and industrial 

proposals managed and in particular, the Commercial Proposal manage 

commercial activity through a strategic approach that in general terms, 

separates commercial and industrial activity and manages commercial 

activity through a centres based approach. 30 

 

  [10.10 am] 

 

 The approach has of course been informed by the LURP and associated 

amendments to Chapter 6 of the RPS.   35 

 

 And I refer to and adopt the legal submissions presented at the Stage 1 

Hearing about the centres based approach. 

 

 The Council’s position has also taken into account the Panel’s 40 

decisions on Stage 1 Transport and on designations which includes 

KiwiRail’s designation for drive (ph 0.59) away purposes. 

 

 Turning to section 4, the first outstanding matter with KiwiRail is the 

adjoining zone rules.  I have already explained the Council’s position 45 

which is set out there again in paragraph 4.1.  Paragraph 4.2 explains 
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how we have got to the Council’s position which allows for the 

adjoining industrial, rural and residential zone rules to come across and 

be used in the transport zone but with two provisos. 

 

 One is that buildings and structures are relocatable and that is an area 5 

of disagreement.  The second is that sensitive activities are excluded 

and that is a matter that is agreed between KiwiRail, the Crown and the 

Council. 

 

 The Council’s approach in terms of only allowing residential suburban, 10 

industrial general in the rural urban fringe include a consideration of 

allowing activities to occur at an appropriate density in these standards, 

and it is submitted to strike a balance between allowing KiwiRail and 

other owners of transport zone land, to use their land rather than 

keeping the transport zone entirely locked up, while also ensuring that 15 

the strategic infrastructure is protected for future use. 

 

 At paragraph 4.5, in terms of the residential suburban zone, I outline 

there ultimately what activities could take place in the transport zone 

after sensitive activities are excluded. 20 

 

 In terms of the relief by KiwiRail to bring over commercial rules and 

activity statuses, the Council and the Crown are aligned on this issue 

and it is submitted that the relief sought by KwiRail has the potential to 

undermine the centres based approach for commercial development.  25 

And KiwiRail has not provided any evidence that it has considered the 

effects of this amount of land being opened up for commercial 

purposes.  KiwiRail’s witnesses have not considered the relief sought 

against the Chapter 15 objectives and policies, nor against the RPS 

which must of course be given effect to. 30 

 

 Areas of land of this size were subject to substantial scrutiny through 

the Commercial and Industrial Hearings where rezonings were sought 

to one of the commercial zones. 

 35 

 And I note there that includes even when a rezoning was sought which 

was adjacent to an existing centre. 

 

 There was still substantial evidence provided including economic 

evidence as to the implications of that rezoning to commercial.  We do 40 

not have that before you today. 

 

 KiwiRail also have included a general catchall rule in their provisions 

which allows for all non-sensitive permitted activities in adjoining 

zones to apply in the transport zone. 45 
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 So this essentially opens up the specific purpose and the open space 

rules as they are the only other zones that are adjacent to the transport 

zone. 

 

 Mr Falconer for the Council has taken a look at these zones and in his 5 

view, it is not necessary to do this, this is because either the activities 

with them are already permitted in the transport zone or they are largely 

sensitive activities, and the parties are of course in agreement that 

sensitive activities should not be provided in the transport zone. 

 10 

 Turning to section 5, relocatable activities. 

 

  [10.15 am] 

 

 So the issue here is whether a standard should be included in the plan 15 

requiring any buildings and structures within an area that is designated 

under KiwiRail’s designation shall be a relocatable building or 

structure. 

 

 It is Council’s and the Crown’s positions that buildings and structures 20 

should be relocatable and this is fundamental to Mr Falconer’s 

recommendation that the adjoining zone rules come across into the 

transport zone. 

 

 And Mr Falconer’s view is based on the primary purpose of the 25 

transport zone providing for the transportation needs of Christchurch 

by ensuring adequate land is available for transport. 

 

 There is a risk with permanent non transport activities locating in the 

transport zone that in the future if that land is required for transport 30 

needs, it will not be possible to use it due to the permanent structures 

on it or the cost to remove them will be substantial and there has been 

no evidence on that cost from KiwiRail. 

 

 And there is also a Strategic Direction objective 33.12 of the 35 

Replacement District Plan.  The Council is required to protect the 

railway network by avoiding adverse effects from incompatible 

activities. 

 

 So where the Council has got to is it recommends allowing KiwiRail 40 

and other landowners within the transport zone, to utilise their land in 

the meantime for various uses, but that is the proviso, that any 

structures or buildings that are built on that land is relocatable. 

 

 And it is submitted that that approach strikes an appropriate balance.     45 
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 Section 6, sir, building setbacks from the railway corridor.  This is 

again, a related matter and essentially KiwiRail are seeking four metre 

setbacks on non-designated land and you have heard evidence in other 

hearings seeking that relief across all zones, including the transport 

zone but they are seeking that where land is designated, there is no 5 

requirement for a setback, so buildings and structures could be built 

right up to the designation boundary. 

 

 Council’s position is the zero metre or the lack of a setback is 

inappropriate.  In essence, KiwiRail’s evidence before you and the - - -  10 

 

SJH: Do you have expert evidence on the 1.5 being sufficient for safety 

purposes? 

 

MS SCOTT:  No, Mr Falconer has relied on the evidence filed by KiwiRail in 15 

previous hearings about the distances required to maintain buildings 

safely within their land. 

 

SJH: Okay. 

 20 

MS SCOTT:   So KiwiRail’s position in other Hearings is that a setback is 

required for health and safety reasons to allow sufficient space for 

maintenance, service and upgrade of buildings and structures that are 

adjacent to the rail corridor. 

 25 

 Their position has been that because that land is designated and they 

either own that land or have control of that land through leases, that 

there is no need for a setback. 

 

 Council’s concern is that that land, once it is surplus to KiwiRail’s 30 

requirements, can of course be onsold and then we end up in a situation 

where buildings and structures are built right up to the railway corridor 

but owned by a third party and the health and safety concerns that 

KiwiRail have raised elsewhere, would then apply. 

 35 

 I just note there at paragraph 6.6, Mr McKee - - - 

 

SJH Well you have reached agreement with Mr McKee so I do not think 

there is any need to go over that.  We have read these submissions. 

MS SCOTT:   Thank you, sir.  With your leave, just turning to section 7 which 40 

addresses Orion’s submission, I am in your hands whether you want me 

to address you on that sir, this is something that has come up in the past 

but in summary, Orion did not make a primary submission on the 

transport chapter at all, but then made a further submission - - - 
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SJH Well do you accept it is within scope or not? 

MR SCOTT:   No, sir, Council’s position is that it is not within scope but in 

paragraph 7.4, sir, Council’s position is that this is a wider issue than 

just a transport zone and if the setback rule is not included in the 

transport proposal there will be an inconsistency as to setbacks for 5 

Orion that have arisen because of the submissions that they have made 

on the plan.  So the Council does not want to stand in the way of there 

being consistent setbacks but we have raised that scope issue with you. 

 

  [10.20 am] 10 

 

SJH:   You want to hand the scope issue to us. 

 

MS SCOTT:   We are in your hands on that, sir.  And just for completeness 

there, of course the setbacks for - - - 15 

 

SJH:   Shouldn’t the Council accept that is something they should have picked 

up in the notified version originally, right back to the beginning of all 

of this with Orion? 

 20 

MS SCOTT:   The Council’s position at the start was that the national grid, 

Transpower’s national grid, deserved protection in terms of setbacks. 

 

SJH:  I understand that but on reflection is it now accepted that Orion’s 

infrastructure should have been offered a similar level of protection, 25 

perhaps not exactly the same? 

 

MS SCOTT:   Yes, I accept that, sir. 

 

SJH:   Thank you. 30 

 

MS SCOTT:   And there was an issue as to where their assets were and what 

level of protection they deserved and there is an affidavit before you 

now covering that and just to tie that issue off, the issue of setbacks 

keeps coming up in each hearing, the Council agrees to the merits of 35 

those setbacks but the location of those setback rules is something that 

will be addressed in evidence in the general rules because there is a 

difference in view between the Council and Transpower as to where the 

rules should be located. 

 40 

 Finally, just at section 8, numbering in this stage, sorry that should be 

numbering in the stage 1 decision.  The stage 2 proposal adds new 

provisions to the Transport chapter and I just highlight there that 

depending on the decision that is made in stage 2 there may be a need 
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to align some of the numbering with stage 1 and we are happy to assist 

the Panel in doing that moving forward. 

 

SJH:   All right. 

 5 

MR SCOTT:   Sir, that concludes my submissions.  I just have one witness to 

call this morning. 

 

SJH:   I’ll just see if there are any questions.  Mr Illingsworth? 

 10 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   No questions, sir. 

 

SJH:   Dr Mitchell? 

 

DR MITCHELL:   No thank you, sir. 15 

 

SJH:   Just one matter.  Mr Falconer’s evidence talks about this Transport zone 

but what we’re dealing with with KiwiRail would be colloquially still 

called a rail corridor. Mr Falconer talks about the need to protect it for 

possible use by the Council for pedestrian and cycleways.  If you want 20 

that land why shouldn’t you go through a normal process yourself 

rather than relying on someone else’s? 

 

MR SCOTT:   I assume you are talking about designations there, sir.  That is 

an alternative planning option and I accept that and the Council accepts 25 

that. 

 

SJH:   Well aren’t you trying to make (INDISTINCT 3.16) someone else’s 

land for your own purpose here?  Isn’t that the effect of that evidence? 

 30 

MS SCOTT:   It could be termed in that way, sir, but the submissions received 

on that Transport zone that has been notified, there have been 

Mr McKee’s one which sought a rezoning but other than that, and 

Mr Falconer can confirm the scope of submissions, no-one else has 

challenged that Transport zoning. 35 

 

SJH:   No I understand that.  All right, thank you.  If you call your witness then 

we will have the witness sworn or affirmed please. 

 

MS SCOTT:   Thank you, sir.  I call Mr David Falconer. 40 
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<DAVID IAN FALCONER, affirmed [10.24 am] 
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<EXAMINATION BY MS SCOTT  [10.24 am] 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Yes. 

 

MS SCOTT:   Good morning, Mr Falconer.  If you would confirm your full 5 

name is David Ian Falconer. 

 

MR FALCONER:   It is. 

 

MS SCOTT:   You have prepared two statements of evidence for this hearing, 10 

the first dated 7 September 2015, the second in rebuttal dated 

21 September 2015. 

 

MR FALCONER:   That is correct. 

 15 

MS SCOTT:   And that you have the qualifications and experience which is set 

out in your evidence-in-chief for the stage 1 hearing? 

 

MR FALCONER:   Yes. 

 20 

MS SCOTT:   Do you have any corrections to make to your evidence? 

 

MR FALCONER:   Not a correction but a clarification if I may?   

 

MS SCOTT:   Yes. 25 

 

  [10.25 am] 

 

MR FALCONER:  It has come to my attention through discussions that 

paragraph 9.7 of my evidence-in-chief – this is where I talk about the 30 

submission from the Lyttelton-Mt Herbert Community Board and the 

Crown about the zoning of some unformed legal roads adjoining 

Lyttelton Harbour – now I have reached the conclusion in that 

paragraph that it is appropriate that those unformed legal roads are 

zoned Transport but I also want to clarify that I have reached that 35 

conclusion based on the evidence that is available at the moment on the 

Transport zone.   

 

 If there is additional evidence that is produced in relation to the Open 

Space hearing, which will be considered in stage 3, and that evidence 40 

suggests that an Open Space zoning is more appropriate, then that 

could be reconsidered but at this stage based on the evidence I consider 

a Transport zone is appropriate. 
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MS SCOTT:   Okay, thank you for that clarification.  Can you confirm that 

your evidence is true and correct to the best of your knowledge and 

belief? 

 

MR FALCONER:   It is. 5 

 

MS SCOTT:  Thank you. If you could provide a brief summary of your 

evidence and then remain seated to answer any questions. 

 

MR FALCONER:   Sure.   10 

 

MS SCOTT:   Thank you. 

 

MR FALCONER:  The stage 2 Transport proposal of the Proposed 

Replacement District Plan provides provisions for activities that occur 15 

within transport corridors, including road and rail corridors.  These 

corridors are zoned Transport zone in the Replacement District Plan.  

In the Operative City Plan they were primarily zoned Special Purpose 

Road, Special Purpose Rail and Special Purpose Pedestrian Precinct 

zones. 20 

 

 Through informal and formal mediation, and the evidence exchanged, 

most matters raised in the submissions have now been resolved.  As 

you have heard, KiwiRail and the Crown have some remaining areas of 

disagreement which can be summarised as what non-transport activities 25 

should be permitted in the Transport zone.  In particular what non-

transport activities and activity statuses would be applicable in the 

Transport zone?  Whether activities on designated land in the Transport 

zone should be relocatable, and what setbacks should apply to land in 

the Transport zone? 30 

 

 The other area of disagreement in this proposal is whether community 

markets on road reserve should be permitted, in particular, the Lyttelton 

Farmers Market on London Street in Lyttelton.  Now I will briefly take 

you through these areas of disagreement.   35 

 

 First of all about what non-transport activities and activity statuses 

should be applicable in the Transport zone.  In the notified stage 2 

Transport zone proposal the only permitted activities in the Transport 

zone are activities for transport purposes and some activities that 40 

provide public amenity in public space for community activities.   

 

 I consider that the transport corridor should be safeguarded primarily 

for transport use; in particular the city rail corridors should be protected 

to support investigations into future public transport options proposed 45 

in a number of local and regional strategies.  My view is supported by 
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the Strategic Directions objective 3.3.2 and 3.3.12 and the Regional 

Policy Statement. 

 

 Now having reviewed the submissions and the evidence I agree to 

amend the notified proposal so that the non-transport Industrial 5 

General, Residential Suburban and Rural Urban Fringe uses, except for 

sensitive activities, can be permitted within transport corridors if they 

adjoin any Industrial, Residential or Rural zones.  This is on the basis 

that these uses are relocatable so the transport corridor can be 

converted to a transport use in the future when required. 10 

 

 I think (ph 4.06) providing for within the Transport zone activities 

permitted in the adjoining Commercial zone is not consistent with the 

centres-based approach for commercial activity in the Commercial 

chapter as it would provide land for commercial activities in addition to 15 

the land proposed to be zoned Commercial.  I rely on the evidence of 

Mr McLeod and Mr Stevenson on the Commercial proposal that 

providing additional commercial land has the potential risk of 

adversely affecting the recovery of the central city and the hierarchy of 

centres, as proposed in Chapter 15.   20 

 

 I also consider that there should be a consistent setback of 1.5 metres 

for non-transport activities in the rail corridor on adjoining sites in the 

Transport zone, whether the land is designated or not. 

 25 

 Now further to this there have been some points raised in the opening 

legal submissions of KiwiRail which I would like to respond to.  

 

  [10.30 am] 

 30 

 First of all, in paragraph 3.29, the opening legal submissions mention in 

the last sentence that the logic in this approach, which is the approach 

between requiring relocating buildings on designated land versus 

allowing permitted buildings on non-designated land is difficult to 

understand.  I would like to explain my rationale for the difference in 35 

approach between the designated land and the non-designated land. 

 

 I have taken direction from the Strategic Directions objective 33.12, as 

I mentioned before, and policy 5.37 (ph 0.59) of the Regional Policy 

Statement, which talks about the protection of the Strategic Transport 40 

network. 

 

 The Strategic Transport network includes the rail network.  It is not 

clear exactly where the boundaries of the rail network is, so I consider 

that they are a designation that KiwiRail have sought for railway 45 
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purposes is the best identification of what is the rail network and the 

land within it. 

 

 That is why I have said that the activities within a designated rail 

network should be relocatable whereas activities on non-designated 5 

land should not, because I consider that non-designated land is going 

beyond the scope of the Strategic Directions chapters, which only talks 

about protection of the Strategic Transport network whereas the 

Transport Zone covers more than just the Strategic Transport network.  

It covers local roads, pedestrian areas, cycleways and so forth.  So I 10 

have tried to keep the scope of those provisions to the scope of the 

Strategic Directions objective.   

 

 Another point of clarification in paragraph 3.40 of the KiwiRail 

opening evidence (ph 2.23), there is also talk about the centreline 15 

approach and the drafting of that, and KiwiRail’s position is that it 

should be based on the designated rail corridor whereas Council’s 

approach is that it should be based on the centre of the zone.  That is 

once again because I consider that the zone is the appropriate area that 

is defined for where the adjoining zones start and finish, whereas the 20 

designated rail corridor is a subset of that zone. 

 

 Now I will turn to the other outstanding issue, whether community 

markets on Road Reserve should be permitted. Now I consider that 

community markets such as the Lyttelton farmers market should be 25 

permitted in the Transport Zone, as in my view there are already 

sufficient processes outside of the Replacement District Plan to manage 

and monitor the effects of community markets.   

 

 Therefore, in my view, the updated revised proposals including my 30 

rebuttal evidence is appropriate and will achieve the higher order 

directions in the Strategic Directions chapter of the Replacement 

District Plan, Regional Policy Statement and the purpose of the 

Resource Management Act.   

 35 

 I am happy to answer any questions.  Thank you. 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Ms Arthur-Young? 

 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MS ARTHUR-YOUNG [10.33 am] 40 

 

MS ARTHUR-YOUNG:   Thank you, sir.  Good morning, Mr Falconer. 

 

MR FALCONER:   Good morning. 

 45 
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MS ARTHUR-YOUNG:   The concept of reverse sensitivity relates to the 

vulnerability of an established activity as against a new activity, isn’t 

it? 

 

MR FALCONER:   That is right. 5 

 

MS ARTHUR-YOUNG:   So if a new use is permitted, the established use may 

be required to restrict its operations due to threat of complaint from the 

new activity.  That is reverse sensitivity in a nutshell, is it? 

 10 

MR FALCONER:   Yes. 

 

MS ARTHUR-YOUNG:   But the concept of reverse sensitivity is not about 

protecting a landowner or infrastructure provider from themselves, is 

it? 15 

 

MR FALCONER:   If the landowner does own the land where the activity 

occurs then I agree that the landowner can manage that.  But if the land 

is not owned by the landowner then it will have difficulty in managing 

that. 20 

 

MS ARTHUR-YOUNG:   All right, thank you.  So here with the provisions 

proposed by the Council, the Council is seeking to restrict what 

KiwiRail can do on its own land, is that fair? 

 25 

  [10.35 am] 

 

MR FALCONER:   Yes, it is restricting what is in the Strategic Transport 

network.   

 30 

MS ARTHUR-YOUNG:   So the provisions will affect what KiwiRail can do 

in its corridor? 

 

MR FALCONER:   Yes. 

 35 

MS ARTHUR-YOUNG:   And KiwiRail has accepted that sensitive activities 

are off the table, is that correct? 

 

MR FALCONER:   That is correct, yes. 

 40 

MS ARTHUR-YOUNG:   So the provisions proposed by the Council here are 

in fact about retaining the availability of the rail corridor land.  Is that 

fair to say? 

 

MR FALCONER:   It is about protecting the Strategic Rail network within the 45 

Strategic Transport network for current and future uses.   



 Page 16 

  

Ch7: Transport (Part) Commenced 29.09.15 

 

MS ARTHUR-YOUNG:   Right.  I’m just trying to establish – the policy 

framework as I read is very much about managing reverse sensitivity 

effects, but in fact the provisions in your evidence are quite clear that – 

and I think in paragraph 5.3 of your rebuttal evidence you say the space 5 

will need to be available.  So do you accept that these provisions are 

about the Council trying to keep available the land for transport 

purposes? 

 

MR FALCONER:   Yes, I do. 10 

 

MS ARTHUR-YOUNG:   The proposed provisions don’t stop KiwiRail from 

selling its land, is that correct? 

 

MR FALCONER:   No. 15 

 

MS ARTHUR-YOUNG:   They cannot do that, can they?  The provisions can’t 

stop KiwiRail from selling its land? 

 

MR FALCONER:   No. 20 

 

MS ARTHUR-YOUNG:   And the provisions cannot make or require 

KiwiRail, or anyone else, from putting their land to a transport use? 

 

MR FALCONER:   The provisions make clear that the primary function of the 25 

Transport Zone is for transport use and other activities that are not of a 

transport nature are relocatable because that is not the primary use. 

 

MS ARTHUR-YOUNG:   Right, but for example, the Council could not 

require Mr McKee to use his land for, say, a public cycleway? 30 

 

MR FALCONER:   No. 

 

MS ARTHUR-YOUNG:   So the controls will, as we have established, affect 

what KiwiRail and other persons who own land in the Transport Zone 35 

can do with their land? 

 

MR FALCONER:   Yes. 

 

MS ARTHUR-YOUNG:   And would affect the value of that land? 40 

 

MR FALCONER:   I am not an expert in property values so I could not 

comment on that. 

 

MS ARTHUR-YOUNG:   Counsel for the Council said in her legal 45 

submissions that there is a concern around the relocatable or permanent 
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nature of buildings because the cost of removing permanent buildings 

could be high. 

 

MR FALCONER:   That was one of her submissions, yes. 

 5 

MS ARTHUR-YOUNG:   So the provisions you support in your evidence and 

are seeking in your evidence are about controlling the land in the rail 

corridor before some future, ideally public, transport project occurs?  Is 

that right? 

 10 

MR FALCONER:   I think I should make it clear, and as I mentioned in the 

clarification previously, the relocatable buildings only applies to the 

designated land and I considered that potentially that KiwiRail can 

remove the designation and put a permanent building on their land.   

 15 

 I think it is about making it clear to the community and to future 

transport users that this land, if it is designated, is really being provided 

for rail purposes.  If that is no longer KiwiRail’s intention, that it does 

not need it for rail purposes, then it should provide certainty by 

removing the designation, and then it is clear to the adjoining 20 

landowners, who don’t have certainty as to what is going to occur next 

to them, what will occur. 

 

MS ARTHUR-YOUNG:   The Transport Zone encompasses more than just 

KiwiRail’s land, doesn’t it? 25 

 

MR FALCONER:   It does, yes. 

 

MS ARTHUR-YOUNG:   So third parties other than KiwiRail own land in the 

Transport Zone? 30 

 

MR FALCONER:   That is right, yes. 

 

MS ARTHUR-YOUNG:   And that land is not designated necessarily? 

 35 

MR FALCONER:   Some of the land, some of the land is not. 

 

MS ARTHUR-YOUNG:   Mr McKee, for example, is not designated? 

 

MR FALCONER:   That is correct, yes. 40 

 

MS ARTHUR-YOUNG:   So Mr McKee is in the Transport Zone? 

 

MR FALCONER:   Yes. 

 45 

MS ARTHUR-YOUNG:   But he could put a permanent building? 
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MR FALCONER:   That is correct, yes. 

 

MS ARTHUR-YOUNG:   Thank you. 

 5 

SJH:   I think your evidence in front of the designations hearing was that it was 

required for rail purposes.  That is the whole purpose of the 

designation, isn’t it?  

 

MS ARTHUR-YOUNG:   Precisely right. 10 

 

SJH:   And the response that you can remove it if you like – correct, isn’t it? 

 

MS ARTHUR-YOUNG:   Absolutely.  Just finally, in terms of the future 

transport projects that you discuss extensively in your evidence, you 15 

say the corridor should be protected for cycling, public transport and 

freight uses? 

 

MR FALCONER:   Yes. 

 20 

  [10.40 am] 

 

MS ARTHUR-YOUNG:   And you accept that KiwiRail is in the business of 

providing freight? 

 25 

MR FALCONER:   That is correct, yes. 

 

MS ARTHUR-YOUNG:   And it has a broad designation, as his Honour has 

just alluded to, to enable it to undertake freight activities? 

 30 

MR FALCONER:   Yes. 

 

MS ARTHUR-YOUNG:   So freight is covered in terms of the designation.  In 

terms of then cycling and public transport future transport plans, the 

Council doesn’t yet have concrete funding for any such projects? 35 

 

MR FALCONER:   It has concrete funding for cycleways and is in discussions 

with KiwiRail about a number of locations where cycleways could be 

located and the Council will obviously have to either lease or buy that 

land to develop those cycleways. 40 

 

MS ARTHUR-YOUNG:   Right, so the Council has no access or property 

rights to actually get in the corridor to do those activities? 

 

MR FALCONER:   Well, there is currently a cycleway in the northern corridor 45 

which Council obviously has access rights to and has a lease 
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arrangement with and is in negotiations with extending those 

cycleways to other parts of the network. 

 

MS ARTHUR-YOUNG:   But as you identify in your evidence and rebuttal 

that is a long future discussion and process? 5 

 

MR FALCONER:   Yes, in terms of cycleways it is occurring right now but the 

public transport, yes, it is more of a longer discussion, yes. 

 

MS ARTHUR-YOUNG:   Yes, like commuter rail you identify? 10 

 

MR FALCONER:   Yes. 

 

MS ARTHUR-YOUNG:   So the Council is seeking to limit the range of 

activities and development that KiwiRail can undertake in the 15 

designated rail corridor for some potential future Council projects 

which aren’t yet certain, is that right? 

 

MR FALCONER:   Well, the Council’s position is, and I have taken a lead 

from the Regional Policy Statement, is that this corridor, yes, it is 20 

owned by KiwiRail but it has been identified as a strategic transport 

network for the city, so a strategic asset.  And, as it says the Regional 

Policy Statement, it is about protecting the strategic infrastructure for 

current and future uses and not for closing (ph 2.21) opportunities so 

that is what the Council is interested in - - - 25 

 

MS ARTHUR-YOUNG:   Keeping the line free? 

 

MR FALCONER:   Mm. 

 30 

MS ARTHUR-YOUNG:   Thank you. Thank you, sir. 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Mr Illingsworth? 

 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   Yes, sir.  Good morning, Mr Falconer. 35 

 

MR FALCONER:   Good morning. 

 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   5.4 of your rebuttal evidence talks about the 

definition of relocatable buildings, buildings easily capable of and 40 

intended for relocation in part or in whole.  So my questions really 

focus on exactly what that means with respect to a building, clearly a 

Portacom could be easily relocated and by your definition would a 

warehouse on a concrete floor be easily relocated? 

 45 
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MR FALCONER:   It would depend on the design of it but I think the real 

reason for this definition to be included in this proposal is really to give 

a signal that these activities on designated land is not the ultimate or the 

permanent use of the site.  So, yes, it gives a signal that it needs to be 

designed in such a way that it is easy to be relocated. 5 

 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   Do you accept that there could be some disagreement 

about what is easily relocatable and what isn’t as far as the building is 

concerned not the activity? 

 10 

MR FALCONER:   I am not an expert in building but, yes, I mean this 

definition has already been through the stage 1 definitions hearing and 

there was no evidence or no submissions on this definition as such as to 

how certain it is.  So, yes, I consider that it can be given as an 

indication that buildings need to be designed to be easily relocatable. 15 

 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   Yes, thank you. 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Dr Mitchell? 

 20 

DR MITCHELL:   Thank you, sir.  Good morning, Mr Falconer. 

 

MR FALCONER:   Good morning. 

 

DR MITCHELL:   I am just trying to understand a little bit more about how the 25 

transport zone relates to a strategic corridor as opposed to land that is 

designated for railway purposes because it seems to me there is a 

fundamental difference between the two of those both from a regional 

policy point of view and from a strategic directions point of view. 

 30 

  [10.45 am] 

 

 Can you help me understand some numbers around Mr Munro’s 

evidence, where he sets out in his paragraph 3.3 a whole range of uses 

that KiwiRail owned land is put to mainly by, as I understand it, 35 

lessees.  And we don’t need to go through the list forensically but a fair 

number of those provisions bear no resemblance whatsoever to 

transport related activities, looking at, you know, recycling facilities 

and panel beaters and warehousing and cell sites and storage facilities 

and so forth.   40 

 

 To what extent is it appropriate for that land to be zoned Transport 

anyway given that there is a difference between protecting a corridor 

versus protecting and giving a whole lot of development rights, if you 

like, to something that is unrelated to the Transport zone, if I am 45 

making that point clear? 
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 So can you help me, we will go back to the start, can you help me 

understand that of the rail corridor, using that term loosely, that is 

zoned Transport zone what percentage of that is corridor and what 

percentage of it is designated land that falls outside the actual corridor 5 

or the reasonably foreseeable corridor? 

 

MR FALCONER:   I don’t have those figures on me and it is probably more of 

a question for KiwiRail because I am not aware of how much of their 

land is used for the purposes that Mr Munro states in 3.3.  I am aware 10 

of some particular sites that are used for these purposes but I don’t 

know the full breadth of the amount of land that they use for rail, you 

know, strictly rail purposes versus these non-rail purposes. 

 

 I know that the KiwiRail designation is approximately 150 hectares of 15 

land within Christchurch City.  And the majority of that land is 

obviously used for rail, you know, where the rail line sits but there is 

some land and I am particularly aware of land in Woolston and in 

Middleton and in Addington and a little bit in Belfast where there is 

extra land adjacent to the corridor and I, in my evidence in one of the 20 

attachments, provided some maps of the KiwiRail designation.  It is 

attachment F to my evidence-in-chief which shows sort of the areas of 

land which is obviously designated for KiwiRail, and the majority of 

the designation is about 20 metres wide, 20, 25 metres wide, but there 

are some areas of land which is wider than that and it is really those 25 

areas that I think are the subject of this discussion because where it is 

wider than 20-odd metres there is generally not a rail line there and it 

can be used for other purposes.   

 

 The reason why we zoned it transport is because obviously the 30 

presence of the designation, that has been the historical approach with 

the City Plan that it was zoned for rail.  KiwiRail have obviously 

through the definitions chapter have continued with this approach to 

designating the rail corridor and they have not in their submission 

objected to that land being zoned transport, we have had no 35 

submissions objecting to the concept of zoning the land that is 

designated for rail purposes for transport.  So we have continued that 

approach to reflect the designation. 

 

 It is a similar approach to the port and the airport which are also zoned 40 

for airport purposes and zoned for port purposes for the same nature 

even though the airport, for example, has a designation as well. 

 

  [10.50 am] 

 45 
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DR MITCHELL:   All right, thank you.  And just coming to the issue of 

setbacks where KiwiRail have said that where the land is designated 

then there should be a zero metre setback and where it is not designated 

it should be four metres, and you have said it should be 1.5 for health 

and safety reasons.  And I understand that you are relying on others’ 5 

evidence for that but would a degree of health and safety provision be 

made by virtue of the setbacks that exist on the adjacent zoning?  Why 

does that corridor if you like or that setback need to be on the 

designated land when there is at least a buffer between that activity and 

what can be lawfully established on the neighbouring land by virtue of 10 

the setbacks that apply under that zoning? 

 

MR FALCONER:  Yes, so what I have tried to make clear in the revised 

proposal and in my evidence is that this setback would only apply to 

those non-transport activities that occur within the rail corridor.  So it 15 

does not apply to transport activities.  It is only as a result of the 

approach that KiwiRail sought which is that the adjoining zone’s rules 

are transferred into the Transport zone.  So it would only apply to those 

activities that are permitted in the adjoining zones.  So it is only really a 

setback to non-transport activities. Transport activities, I have not 20 

suggested that that setback should apply because obviously buildings 

that are required for rail purposes may need to be right next to the rail 

corridor to serve those rail purposes. 

 

 I also make it clear that the reason for the 1.5 metre setback as opposed 25 

to the four metre setback is also partly because on balance we have had 

to consider that a number of those properties, including Mr McKee’s 

site, and there is some other land that I identified in my rebuttal 

evidence that is not owned by KiwiRail, was historically rail land, and 

the way it has been subdivided because of the linear nature of the rail 30 

corridor you end up with long, narrow properties like Mr McKee’s site 

that opposing a full four metre setback is quite restrictive on that land, 

so on balance that is why a lesser setback has been suggested for the 

Transport zone, but I do not necessarily say that should apply to all the 

adjoining zones because they do not have that historical link to the 35 

Transport zone and the shape of those parcels are not such that it is that 

restrictive to impose a four metre setback on those adjoining zones. 

 

DR MITCHELL:  Thank you, and just finally, in terms of the strategic 

approach that you are adopting, whereby corridors are reserved – my 40 

word not yours – reserved for future initiatives like cycleways and so 

forth, can you tell me what area of land fits into that category, ie land 

that is not currently used for an operative transport purpose but which 

is sought to be zoned for that purpose at a future date?  Are we talking 

about a few square metres or hundreds of square kilometres or what? 45 
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MR FALCONER:   I do not have the exact area, but if I refer to attachment D 

of my evidence-in-chief, there is a map that I have included in my 

evidence there which shows the proposed separated cycleways that 

Council is currently constructing and has got funding in its long term 

plan for.   5 

 

 Now the land, the area I have circled with the black circles that pass the 

corridor where Council has identified that a cycleway would be 

desirable.  The orange area on the northern corridor, there already is a 

cycleway there at present and it is proposed to extend that further to the 10 

north and to the south. It is proposed to construct a cycleway on the rail 

line to the Heathcote Valley and then also on the southern line towards 

Hornby. 

 

 But those are the areas of land that as I mentioned before that Council 15 

is currently negotiating with KiwiRail as to whether that land can be 

used.  Traditionally on the northern line it has only been a few metres 

along that linear corridor that Council has needed for the cycleway so it 

is not taking the entire corridor, there is still enough space for the rail 

line and rail operations to continue to be used adjacent to this 20 

cycleway. 

 

  [10.55 am] 

 

DR MITCHELL:   I am glad you referred us to that figure because my version 25 

of that I could not really decipher the key on. 

 

MR FALCONER:   Oh, right. 

 

DR MITCHELL:   The one on the screen does not help much either.  Could 30 

you just tell – is the orange, does that say ‘completed’? 

 

MR FALCONER:   Yes. 

 

DR MITCHELL:   Oh there it is, it is blown up. 35 

 

MR FALCONER:   So the orange ones is completed, the ones that are existing, 

and the red is proposed. 

 

DR MITCHELL:   All right.  Thank you, Mr Falconer.  Thank you, sir. 40 

 

SJH:   With the red ones, Mr Falconer, you are talking five year delivery?  Is 

that funded at the moment in the long term plan? 

 

MR FALCONER:   Yes, I think - - - 45 
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SJH:   And committed? 

 

MR FALCONER:   I am not an expert on the long term plan.  The delivery 

may now be pushed out to seven years but it is definitely funded in the 

long term plan (INDISTINCT 0.54) 5 

 

SJH:   But it is dependent on reaching agreement with KiwiRail presumably?  

Or have you reached that agreement? 

 

MR FALCONER:   Well I am not involved in the discussions, they are 10 

ongoing right at the moment.  I think in some places there has been 

agreement.  In some places it is still under negotiation.   

 

SJH:   Don’t you think you should have been able to tell us that? 

 15 

MR FALCONER:   Well the negotiations are going on daily so it changes. 

 

SJH:   I understand that, but we have got no information about what has been 

agreed as of today, have we? 

 20 

MR FALCONER:   No, no. 

 

SJH:  All right, thank you.  Anything arising from the Panel’s questions, 

Ms Arthur-Young? 

 25 

MS ARTHUR-YOUNG:   No, sir. 

 

SJH:   Anything arising or re-examination? 

 

MS SCOTT:   No thank you, sir. 30 

 

SJH:   Thank you Mr Falconer, you may stand down. 

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [10.56 am] 

 35 

SJH:   That is you only witness, Mr Scott? 

 

MS SCOTT:   That is, sir, thank you. 

 

SJH:  Yes, Ms Wedde and you can take it that we have read your opening 40 

submissions.  So if you wish to speak to them just a brief highlights is 

fine. 

 

MS WEDDE:   Thank you for that indication, sir.  These opening submissions 

are brief.  Just to summarise, the submissions for the Crown on the 45 

Transport Proposal have all been addressed in the revised proposal.  
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These submissions go through why the proposed amendments in the 

revised proposal are appropriate in my submission, just for 

completeness, but there is no dispute between issues (ph 2.22) on that. 

 

SJH:   All right, thank you. 5 

 

MS WEDDE:   So the key outstanding issue in this hearing of interest to the 

Crown is the issue which has just been before you of activities within 

the Transport zone or non-transport activities within the Transport 

zone, and to summarise the Crown’s position on that particular issue 10 

the Crown and the Council are essentially in agreement on this.  There 

is some minor disagreement between the Council and the Crown as to 

the best drafting method of capturing of what is intended, but in 

substance there is agreement there. 

 15 

 The Crown does not agree to the further amendments proposed by 

KiwiRail for the same reasons as outlined in my friend’s submissions 

for the Council. 

 

SJH:   Sorry, the Crown has? 20 

 

MS WEDDE:   Sorry, the Crown does not agree to the further amendments 

proposed by KiwiRail on this issue.  And that is essentially for the 

same reasons that my friend Ms Scott has addressed you on already this 

morning.   25 

 

 So I will just take you – I will not take you through what is on the rest 

of pages 1 to 4, except just to note, and apologies for this, there is a 

minor typo in paragraph 17 where I refer to policy 9C and that 

reference should instead be 10C. 30 

 

SJH:   Thank you. 

 

MS WEDDE:   So turning then to the key outstanding issue of activities within 

the Transport zone, I set out in more detail there the Crown’s position 35 

on those provisions and summarised that succinctly, so I am in your 

hands as to whether you wish me to go into that any further or we could 

go directly to Ms McLeod’s evidence. 

 

SJH:   No, I will just check if there is any questions. 40 

 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   No, sir. 

 

DR MITCHELL:   I just had one question, just by way of context.  As I 

understand it, the Crown’s submission here is supporting an original 45 

submission that was made by the Transport Agency, New Zealand 
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Transport Agency.  That does not have any responsibility at all for 

KiwiRail as I understand.  Is that correct? 

 

MS WEDDE:   That is correct.  The Crown, I am here, I do not have any 

authority to speak for KiwiRail of course.  I am here on behalf of the 5 

Transport Agency who is represented as part of the Crown’s 

submission. 

 

DR MITCHELL:   But as long as the Transport Agency gets what it wants, 

which is the protection of its road corridors.  Why does it have a view 10 

at all on KiwiRail’s disagreement with the Council? 

 

  [11.00 am] 

 

MS WEDDE:   The Transport Agency’s interest in this comes from its other 15 

function and so at paragraph 9 of my submissions, I have just 

summarised the two key roles of the Transport Agency in relation to 

the Transport Proposal. 

 

 The first interest of the Transport Agency as you have outlined, is as 20 

the requiring authority and the agency with powers of control over state 

highways. 

 

 So from that point of view, you are correct, that so long as that was 

provided for, problem solved.  But the Transport Agency also has 25 

another important function under the Land Transport Management Act 

of funding transport improvements more generally, and the Transport 

Agency is a major co-investor in local roads, walking, cycling and 

passenger transport and there is also a partner to the Greater 

Christchurch Urban Development Strategy.   30 

 

 So from that point of view, the Transport Agency is aligned with the 

Council and concerned that the transport zone is protected for future 

transport developments. 

 35 

DR MITCHELL:   But only within the provision of the matters that you have 

listed in your paragraph 9.  You presumably do not have any interest at 

all in what KiwiRail uses the balance of its land for and would not have 

a view as to any disagreement between the Council and KiwiRail 

unless it was compromising a corridor for future cycleways and 40 

suchlike.  Is that right? 

 

MS WEDDE:   Yes, that is correct, yes. 

 

DR MITCHELL:   All right, thank you, thank you, sir. 45 
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SJH:   Thank you, yes, if you just call your witness now. 

 

MS WEDDE:   Thank you, sir, and just one final point of clarification, it is just 

a minor matter. 

 5 

 You heard one point of clarification from Mr Falconer this morning in 

relation to this paragraph 9.7, and that was in relation to a Crown 

submission seeking that some land near Lyttelton Harbour not be zoned 

transport but be zoned open space, and I would just like to confirm that 

we are seeking that that decision be made after the Open Space Hearing 10 

occurs. 

 

SJH:   So we are really being asked to defer it to the Open Space Hearing? 

 

MS WEDDE:   Yes. 15 

 

SJH:   Is that not the real application, Ms Scott? 

 

MS SCOTT:   Yes, sir. 

 20 

SJH:   What we have been told is we are likely to hear contrary evidence to 

which Mr Falconer would submit basically? 

 

MS SCOTT:   Yes, sir, and what Mr Falconer was talking about is the evidence 

on the policies, objective and policy framework for the rural - - - 25 

 

SJH: So if I can put it this way, it is yet another deferral being sought? 

 

MS SCOTT:   Yes, that is correct. 

 30 

SJH: All right. 

 

MS WEDDE:   So I now call the sole witness for the Transport Agency, Ms 

Ainsley McLeod. 

 35 
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<AINSLEY JEAN McLEOD, sworn [11.03 am] 
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<EXAMINATION BY MS WEDDE [11.04 am] 

 

MS WEDDE:   Thank you, do you confirm that your full name is Ainsley Jean 

McLeod? 

 5 

MS McLEOD:   I do. 

 

MS WEDDE:   And for this Hearing you have prepared two statements of 

evidence, a statement of evidence dated 16 September and a statement 

of rebuttal evidence dated 21 September? 10 

 

MS McLEOD:   I have. 

 

MS WEDDE:   And you have recorded there at paragraph 3 of your primary 

evidence that your qualifications and past experience are summarised 15 

in your first statement of evidence before this Hearing? 

 

MS McLEOD:   It is. 

 

MS WEDDE:   Do you have any corrections that you would like to make to 20 

your evidence (INDISTINCT 4.40) for this Hearing? 

 

MS McLEOD:   No, I do not. 

 

MS WEDDE:   And do you confirm that your evidence is true and correct to 25 

the best of your knowledge and belief? 

 

MS McLEOD:   I do. 

 

MS WEDDE:   Thank you. I know you have prepared a short summary of your 30 

evidence, can you please read that for the Panel and then take any 

questions. 

 

MS McLEOD:   My evidence is in relation to the relief sought by the Crown 

and particularly the Transport Agency in its submission of Proposal 7, 35 

Stage 2.  

 

  [11.05 am] 

 

 The Crown’s submission is brief and supportive of the introduction of a 40 

transport zone and the activities permitted in that zone. 

 

 The Crown’s submission sought the inclusion of specific reference to 

the Strategic Transport network and reverse sensitivity in the relevant 

policies.  These amendments are included in the revised proposal. 45 
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 My evidence concludes my support for the revised proposal that is 

dated 1 September. 

 

 As you have heard, there is general agreement between parties in 

support for the transport zone including its primary role to enable 5 

activities for transport purposes over the life of the Plan.   

 

 The only residual area where witnesses are not in agreement is in 

relation to what non transport related activities may be permitted in the 

zone, and this includes over state highways. 10 

 

 In my opinion, in seeking to address this matter, there is some risk that 

the clarity of the provisions relating to the appropriate activities within 

the transport zone, has been eroded.  This is the case in the Revised 

Policy 10 that has been retrofitted to provide for the subsequent 15 

amendments to the rule framework. 

 

 In my opinion, clause C(ii) and C(iii) could possibly be merged into a 

single clause to read, “Do not undermine the future use of the land for 

transport purposes.” 20 

 

 In my evidence, I support permitted activity status for non-transport 

related industrial and rural activities where they are adjacent to 

industrial and rural zones respectively and where such activities are 

also subject to standards that manage the scale and permanence of 25 

buildings. 

 

 This is the approach taken in the Revised Proposal dated 1 September.   

 

 In my rebuttal evidence I also confirm that many of the land uses 30 

undertaken on land currently leased by KiwiRail as described by 

Mr Munro, would be provided for by this approach. 

 

 Beyond this I consider that the key question is what activities if they 

were permitted in the transport zone, would undermine the purpose of 35 

the transport zone in a manner that would be contrary to or inconsistent 

with the Higher Order documents or objectives and policies of the 

Replacement Plan. 

 

 I also consider it important that the rule framework is clear and easy to 40 

use and consistent with the Statement of Expectations. 

 

 In regards to the Higher Order policy framework, I have been 

particularly guided by policy 5.3.7, subclause 2, of the RPS, that seeks 

in relation to the Strategic Land Transport Network and Arterial Roads, 45 

the avoidance of development which foreclose the opportunity for the 
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development of this network and these roads to meet future strategic 

transport requirements. 

 

 You have already heard a little about objective 3.3.12 of the Strategic 

Directions decision, and I also note objective 3.3.2 that directs the 5 

clarity and efficiency of the Plan provisions. 

 

 I consider that policy 5.3.7 and objective 3.3.12 suggest a conservative 

or precautionary approach to managing development that may 

compromise the Strategic Transport Network, including future 10 

transport requirements and as stated in my evidence, I consider that 

overlaying permitted activities from an adjoining zone excluding noise 

sensitive activities as promoted by KiwiRail, has the effect of 

undermining the purpose of the transport zone in a manner that does 

not give effect to policy 5.3.7, or implement objective 3.3.12, or 15 

proposed policy 10 of the Transport chapter, because this approach 

would enable the development in the transport zone that would 

compromise the functioning and development of the network. 

 

 In my opinion, this is addressed in the most part by the inclusion of 20 

standards requiring buildings and structures to be relocatable as 

included in both the Revised Proposal and Mr Falconer’s rebuttal 

evidence.  I support this approach as preventing the foreclosed 

opportunity referred to in policy 5.3.7. 

 25 

 Similarly, I consider that reverse sensitivity matters are addressed by 

the exclusion of sensitive activities within the transport zone, although 

I note that Ms Hewett has referenced noise sensitive activities as 

opposed to sensitive activities, and has not included such a reference in 

the KiwiRail provisions for the commercial zone. 30 

 

 Further, in combination, the exclusion of sensitive activities and 

requiring relocatable buildings and structures better addresses objective 

3.3.12 and the concept of protection from incompatible activities. 

 35 

 I turn now to the types of activities that would be appropriate within the 

transport zone and note that I have supported the inclusion of adjoining 

rural and industrial permitted activities in the transport zone. 

 

 While Ms Hewett has sought the inclusion of permitted activities for all 40 

adjoining zones and Mr Falconer, in his rebuttal has accepted the 

inclusion of adjoining residential permitted activities by applying the 

Residential Suburban Zone. 

 

  [11.10 am] 45 
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 In regards to commercial zones, I agree with Mr Falconer’s opinion 

that additional commercially zoned land has the potential to 

compromise the centres-based approach to commercial activities.  

However, I do acknowledge that the land where non-transport-related 

commercial activities may occur has not been specifically identified 5 

and it may be that some of this land is actually within the centres.  It 

may not be, equally.  It could be in Papanui, for instance. 

 

 It is my conclusion though that the precautionary approach would not 

support providing for the adjoining commercial activities.   10 

 

 In relation to Open Space Zones, I similarly agree with Mr Falconer 

that activities permitted by Open Space Zones are already provided for 

in the Transport Zone.  For instance, landscaping or public amenities. 

 15 

 In terms of Specific Purpose Zones and Residential Zones, I do not 

consider that applying permitted activities in these zones delivers any 

substantial benefit, because the majority of activities in these zones are 

within the definition of sensitive activities.  For instance, schools or 

preschools or market gardens are already permitted in the Transport 20 

Zone, like market gardens or storage. 

 

 Some activities in the Residential Zones could be permitted but I think 

they might be better addressed in an activity specific way by actually 

listing those activities that could be anticipated in the Transport Zone, 25 

for instance spiritual facilities or non-habitable accessory buildings. 

 

 On this basis, I continue to support the approach in the 1 September 

revised proposal to the extent that it provides for adjoining rural and 

industrial permitted activities, including the default to restricted 30 

discretionary activity status. 

 

 In terms of the other further revisions included in Mr Falconer’s 

evidence, I support the revised centreline approach to determining 

where rules P17 and P18 apply on the basis that this provides a greater 35 

level of clarity and ease of use and is consistent with the statement of 

expectations. 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Mr Arthur-Young? 

 40 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MS ARTHUR-YOUNG [11.12 am] 

 

MS ARTHUR-YOUNG:   Thank you, sir.  Good morning, Ms McLeod. 

 

MS McLEOD:   Good morning. 45 
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MS ARTHUR-YOUNG:   I would like to put a document to you, Ms McLeod. 

 

SJH:   What is it? 

 

MS ARTHUR-YOUNG:   Sir, it is the Transport Agency’s - - - 5 

 

SJH:   Just pause a moment. 

 

MS ARTHUR-YOUNG:   Certainly.  It is the New Zealand Transport 

Agency’s submission on the Auckland Unitary Plan on precisely this 10 

provision. 

 

SJH:   All right, and is someone going to produce it? 

 

MS ARTHUR-YOUNG:   I will be asking the witness to produce it, sir. 15 

 

SJH:   All right, thank you. 

 

MS ARTHUR-YOUNG:   My apologies, I only brought four copies.  I have 

provided a copy to counsel just before the hearing started.  20 

 

SJH:   You can provide another copy later for the Panel. 

 

MS ARTHUR-YOUNG:   Thank you, sir.  Ms McLeod, do you have the copy I 

have provided to you earlier? 25 

 

SJH:   Exhibit A, thank you. 

 

EXHIBIT #A – NZTA SUBMISSION ON NOTIFIED UNITARY PLAN  

 30 

SJH: You do not have a copy of this, do you? 

 

MR ..........:   I do, sir. 

 

SJH:   You do. All right, you don’t need another copy then.  Thanks. 35 

 

MS ARTHUR-YOUNG:   Thank you.  Perhaps for - - - 

 

SJH:   For the Crown, yes.  Well, you can provide that at the morning 

adjournment.  40 

 

MS ARTHUR-YOUNG:   Thank you, sir.  Sorry, I only brought four copies. 

 

SJH:   Ms Scott, have you got a copy? 

 45 

MS SCOTT:   No, I do not have a copy, sir. 
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MS ARTHUR-YOUNG:   I am sorry, sir, I only brought four copies.  I could 

provide it - - - 

‘ 

SJH:   Why didn’t you bring sufficient copies? 5 

 

MS ARTHUR-YOUNG:   My apologies, sir.  I could on the morning break 

have it available electronically and the parties could look at it on the 

screen. 

 10 

SJH:   No, you will get a print copy in the morning adjournment. 

 

MS ARTHUR-YOUNG:   Thank you, sir. 

 

SJH:   Presumably we have a method of charging you for it as well.   15 

 

 No, give this to Ms Scott at the moment, will you? 

 

MS ARTHUR-YOUNG:   Sir, my questions only relate to this document.  

 20 

SJH:   Thank you. Go to the questions please. 

 

MS ARTHUR-YOUNG:   Thank you, sir.  Ms McLeod, can you confirm that 

this document is New Zealand Transport Agency’s primary submission 

on the proposed Auckland plan?  Submission number 1725, lodged on 25 

27 February 2014? 

 

MS McLEOD:   Yes. 

 

MS ARTHUR-YOUNG:   It is on the front page of the document. 30 

 

MS McLEOD:   Yes. 

 

MS ARTHUR-YOUNG:   Can I ask you please to turn to page 127? 

 35 

SJH:   Before we go on, you said you were going to get this witness to produce 

it.  Is this your document, Ms McLeod? 

 

MS McLEOD:   No, sir. 

 40 

SJH:   How can this witness produce it? 

 

MS ARTHUR-YOUNG:   I am proposed to ask the witness a question about 

the particular submission point - - - 

 45 

SJH:   I did not ask that. 
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MS ARTHUR-YOUNG:   - - - and ask to her to produce it at the end. 

 

SJH:   I asked how can this witness produce it when it is not her document.  I 

mean, are you a witness for the Transport Agency in relation to the 5 

Unitary Plan? 

 

  [11.15 am] 

 

MS McLEOD:   No, sir. 10 

 

SJH:   Have you thought about this? 

 

MS ARTHUR-YOUNG:   I have, sir.  We have previously provided this 

document to Mr Falconer in previous discussions and it is referred to as 15 

well in the evidence - - - 

 

SJH:   Well, let’s box on, but the rules of evidence still apply. 

 

MS ARTHUR-YOUNG:   Thank you, sir. 20 

 

SJH:   So what are you referring to? 

 

MS ARTHUR-YOUNG:   Page 127. 

 25 

SJH:   Yes, thank you. 

 

MS ARTHUR-YOUNG:   Page numbers are at the bottom, handwritten.  

About three-quarters of the way through the document.  So at the 

bottom right-hand corner you will see 127 over 157. 30 

 

SJH:   Yes, we have that. 

 

MS ARTHUR-YOUNG:   The first row on that page, Ms McLeod, relates to 

the submission, the notified provision on the left-hand side – the names 35 

of the columns are on the first page.  But the second column, working 

our way to the right, is the Transport Agency’s position on the notified 

version and then the submission is in that third column to the right. 

 

 The Strategic Transport Corridor is the equivalent Transport Zone in 40 

Auckland.  Can I ask you to read the Transport Agency’s submission 

point on that first (i)14, which starts “the purpose of the control –”? 

 

 Thank you.  So do you accept that the submission of the Transport 

Agency on this provision, relating to activities on adjoining zones, was 45 
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sought by the Transport Agency in the same way KiwiRail is seeking 

through this plan? 

 

MS McLEOD:   I accept the relief that is being sought by the Transport 

Agency in Auckland.  What I do not have before me is the actual 5 

provision the submission is referring to. 

 

MS ARTHUR-YOUNG:   Thank you.  Over the page is the relief sought by the 

Transport Agency, on page 128 in the far right-hand column. 

 10 

MS McLEOD:   Yes. 

 

MS ARTHUR-YOUNG:   Can you read that please?  Thank you. 

 

 Having read that, do you accept that in Auckland the New Zealand 15 

Transport Agency has sought relief which would enable the activities 

undertaken in that transport zone to be the same as the adjoining zone? 

 

MS McLEOD:   Yes, I accept that, but I do note that there are some differences 

between what that zone entails in Auckland compared to Christchurch.  20 

There are a number of differences. 

 

MS ARTHUR-YOUNG:   Are you aware of what those differences are? 

 

MS McLEOD:   The Strategic Transport Corridor zone differs to the Transport 25 

Zone in Christchurch because in Christchurch all of the roads – all of 

the State Highway network and all of the rail corridor – are covered by 

the Transport Zone.  In Auckland my understanding is that these 

corridors deal with the State Highways and rail corridors separately to 

the remainder of the roads.   30 

 

 I am also not aware of the policies that would drive this relief and I 

prefer to rely on the policies in the Regional Policy Statement in the 

context of Christchurch.  

 35 

MS ARTHUR-YOUNG:   So the Transport Agency is not taking a consistent 

approach on these sort of adjoining land activities? 

 

MS McLEOD:   No, and there a number of examples where the Transport 

Agency may take a different approach.  For instance, the Transport 40 

Agency’s approach to high trip generating rules is different in the 

context of Auckland and the network there compared to the 

Christchurch network here and the different key Higher Order policy 

documents. 

 45 

  [11.20 am] 
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MS ARTHUR-YOUNG:  But that important strategic corridor which you 

appear to have some knowledge of in terms of Auckland, the Transport 

Agency did accept that and in fact sought and that matter has been 

agreed by all the parties and resolved through the process to date, that 5 

the adjoining activities in zones should apply to that transport corridor. 

 

MS McLEOD:   I certainly agree that is the relief sought in this submission. 

 

MS ARTHUR-YOUNG:  Thank you.  No further questions, sir. 10 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Mr Illingsworth?   

 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   No questions, sir. 

 15 

SJH:   Dr Mitchell? 

 

DR MITCHELL:   Thank you, sir.  Good morning. 

 

MS McLEOD:   Good morning. 20 

 

DR MITCHELL:   Just a couple of things.  You have said at your paragraph 18 

of your primary statement how you sought the inclusion of specific 

reference to the strategic transport network in the policies.  Can you 

just point out to me how that translates itself down through the specific 25 

rules that relate to the Transport zone generally which I think you will 

agree with me that the Transport zone embodies a range of things that 

go beyond the strategic transport network.  Just perhaps let us start with 

that last point.  Do you accept that the Transport zone encompasses a 

broader ambit than the strategic corridor? 30 

 

MS McLEOD:   Yes, yes. 

 

DR MITCHELL:   And given that, how does the change that you are referring 

to in your paragraph 18 of the policy framework work its way through 35 

the rules in order to ensure that they give effect to those rules? 

 

MS McLEOD:   I do not believe the rules, with the exception of the matter 

around distinguishing designations that Mr Falconer talked about this 

morning, I do not believe apart from that there is any distinction 40 

between the strategic transport network and the whole of the Transport 

zone in the rule framework. 

 

DR MITCHELL:   Do you think that is a sound planning position to be in?  

When you have got a policy framework that talks about strategic 45 

networks and then a whole bunch of rules that apply to what I can only 
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summarise from what I have seen as being historical zoning and 

designation patterns?  If you have got a policy framework that is 

strategic in nature and it is not followed up with that same 

differentiation between strategic and otherwise in the rules, that seems 

to me not to be a sound position to be in. 5 

 

MS McLEOD:   I think the policy framework, the new policy 10 is enabling of 

the Transport zone as a whole but the amendment the Crown sought 

was that in particular that the emphasis of the importance of the 

strategic transport network so it is a little bit about driving the 10 

hierarchy.  I do not think it is saying one or the other. 

 

DR MITCHELL:   But what is the point of having a policy if it is not given 

effect to in some way in the rules?  It just seems that it is words for the 

sake of words on a piece of paper. 15 

 

MS McLEOD:   It potentially is unless there was a consent triggered under 

those rules and you need to weigh the merits of a particular consent 

application by reference to the policies, you may weigh the importance 

of a state highway for instance above a local road. 20 

 

DR MITCHELL:   All right, okay, thank you.  I understand that.  In terms of 

the – I will just give it its colloquial name – the future cycle corridors. 

 

MS McLEOD:   Yes. 25 

 

DR MITCHELL:   We have heard some evidence about how the discussion is 

ongoing with KiwiRail in relation to their land that relates to those.  Do 

you know how much non-KiwiRail land is involved in that same 

exercise that is not currently owned by the Council?  Is there a lot of 30 

private land involved? 

 

MS McLEOD:   I have no idea, sorry. 

 

DR MITCHELL:   So the Transport Agency, other than a policy framework 35 

here, has not made any initiatives of its own to try and either secure 

that land either by way of an ownership interest or by designation or 

any other mechanism that you are aware of? 

 

MS McLEOD:  My understanding is the Transport Agency has some 40 

involvement in the funding and provision of the cycleways, including 

the planning of them.  My understanding is the Transport Agency 

makes provision within its own designations to contribute to the 

cycleway network but I am not able to give you any figures on land 

area. 45 
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DR MITCHELL:   All right, thank you.  Thank you, sir. 

 

SJH:  Ms McLeod, in answer to Ms Arthur-Young you mentioned the 

difference in the Higher Order documents that we must give effect to. 

 5 

MS McLEOD:   Yes. 

 

SJH:   What particular differences are you referring to? 

 

  [11.25 am] 10 

 

MS McLEOD:   Well it is not so much the differences, it is very difficult for 

me to look at the relief sought by the Agency in Auckland without an 

understanding of the policy framework in Auckland, whereas I do have 

an understanding of particularly policy 5.3.7 of the RPS and I have 15 

preferred that in my consideration of what this Transport zone should 

look like, as opposed to considering relief sought in isolation and in the 

context of the Auckland transport network. 

 

SJH:   And Dr Mitchell’s questions around the policy of giving pre-eminence, 20 

if I can put it that way, to the strategic transport network, if we decided 

it should translate into rules you would be happy to work with other 

planners to assist with that? 

 

MS McLEOD:   Certainly, sir. 25 

 

SJH:   All right, thank you.  Ms Arthur-Young, anything arising from the Panel 

questions? 

 

MS ARTHUR-YOUNG:  Sir, just two questions if I may.   30 

 

<RE-EXAMINATION BY MS ARTHUR-YOUNG [11.26 am] 

 

Ms McLeod, in response to His Honour’s questions you refocused again on the 

Christchurch Higher Order policy framework for your support for the 35 

restrictions on the Transport zone here.  Do you accept that that Higher 

Order strategic framework is about ultimately reverse sensitivity 

effects, and that is a language used in that policy framework? 

 

MS McLEOD:   I think it goes beyond reverse sensitivity effects.  I think 40 

particularly if you take policy 5.3.7 it talks about avoiding development 

that forecloses opportunity, I do not think that necessarily implies a 

reverse sensitivity effect.   

 

MS ARTHUR-YOUNG:   So just pausing near that strategic direction to not 45 

foreclose development opportunity, that would be in relation to 
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foreclosing KiwiRail’s ability to use its own land or something that 

KiwiRail could do on its land which could foreclose what KiwiRail 

would choose to do? 

 

MS McLEOD:   It talks about foreclosing the opportunity for the development 5 

of the whole of the network to meet future strategic transport 

requirements.  It is not specific to KiwiRail and it is dealing with the 

strategic transport network as a whole. 

 

MS ARTHUR-YOUNG:   So you – I am sorry, sir, that is a third question – so 10 

you read that policy to be seeking to control activities that a landowner 

could do on its own land which would foreclose what that landowner 

could also do on its own land in the future? 

 

MS McLEOD:   Yes. 15 

 

MS ARTHUR-YOUNG:   No further questions, sir. 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Ms Wedde, anything arising from the Panel questions or re-

examination? 20 

 

MS WEDDE:   No thank you, sir. 

 

SJH:   Thank you, Ms McLeod, you may stand down.   

 25 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW  [11.28 am] 

 

SJH:   All right, we will take the morning adjournment and come back for your 

opening submissions which we have read so you can speak to. 

 30 

ADJOURNED [11.28 am] 

 

RESUMED [11.54 am] 

 

SJH:   Yes, thank you.  Yes, Ms Arthur-Young. 35 

 

MS ARTHUR-YOUNG:   Thank you, sir.   

 

 Sir, KiwiRail’s role, as set out in section 2 of my opening legal 

submissions, is that KiwiRail is a requiring authority and it can 40 

designate land for rail purposes.  

 

  [11.55 am] 

 

 It is also a designated access provider under the Railways Act 2005 and 45 

KiwiRail manages around the country about 18,000 hectares of land.  
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KiwiRail is also an SOE and has that statutory requirement to operate 

as a successful business.  And one of course the key elements of that 

business is the movement of internal freight and I note in 2.3 that on 

average KiwiRail operates 900 freight services around New Zealand 

each week.  When combined with goods carried by ferry KiwiRail’s 5 

freight business earns up to 70 percent of its total operating revenue. 

 

 KiwiRail is also a substantial property manager and the head lease it 

has through the Crown and the New Zealand Rail Corporation gives it 

very broad scope to manage existing land, to acquire new land and to 10 

sell that land when it is no longer required.   

 

 Where KiwiRail has unutilised or underutilised rail land, which it 

intends to find a non-rail use for in the interim but wants to retain the 

land within the rail estate, it will lease that land to a third party. 15 

 

 Mr Munro’s evidence describes the diverse lease portfolio, as 

Dr Mitchell also noted, and a common thread in the leasing 

arrangements that KiwiRail has up and down the country is its ability to 

re-enter land when it becomes necessary for rail purposes, KiwiRail 20 

also does not enter into leases for longer than 35 years and does not 

subdivide the land.  

 

SJH:   As of now? 

 25 

MS ARTHUR-YOUNG:   As of now, sir, yes.  KiwiRail seeks to generate 

income from its rail estate which it feeds back into its rail operations 

and KiwiRail can of course affect the sale of any land subject to the 

necessary clearances and written consent of the Minister for SOEs.  

KiwiRail also has a very clear mandate from government to increase 30 

revenue and rail traffic volumes and a recent review continues to have a 

focus for KiwiRail on productivity, modernising its asset base and 

minimising the funding it requires from the Crown. 

 

 With all of that then necessitates a need for agility and flexibility to 35 

consolidate and reconfigure its operations.  KiwiRail has constant 

moves to centralise and co-locate transport facilities to provide for their 

optimal use and new technology of course is always meaning that yards 

and so on may need to be reconfigured.  So, sir, KiwiRail needs to 

maintain that flexibility and because some of the changes that may be 40 

required might not be able to be implemented for some time, because 

of course these things do take time, there is scope and there should be 

scope in my submission for other activities, including buildings, to 

occur within that rail estate and to remain for an extended period of 

time. 45 
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 At section 3 of my submissions I have summarised briefly there the 

Council’s transport proposal which my friend, Ms Scott, has also 

summarised.  KiwiRail certainly supports the Council’s one network 

approach to management of the transport system in Christchurch and as 

it does up and down the country also seeks through district plans and 5 

regional plans to protect against reverse sensitivity effects and effects 

on the strategic transport network.   

 

 I note my friend, Ms Scott, pointed out or sought a clarification to my 

paragraph 3.3(b) at the top of page 5, that the Council is in fact 10 

enabling those Industrial General, Rural Urban Fringe and Residential 

Suburban uses so I suggest that a minor correction would be to my 

paragraph (b), second line, ‘…adjoining zones to land within the 

transport zone’, and delete ‘…that is adjacent’, and add the word 

‘activities’ at the end. 15 

 

  [12.00 pm] 

 

 In my submission, sir, the point is somewhat semantic, the point I am 

making there is that the Council is seeking to restrict the kinds of 20 

activities that can be enabled on the adjoining transport zone. 

 

 Turning briefly to the Operative District Plan, I set out in 3.6 the zone 

description of the Operative Special Purpose Rail Zone and which talks 

about how the land in the rail corridor may be used for other business 25 

activities or for pedestrian and cycle linkages, such consideration must 

also relate to the compatibility with surrounding land use activities. 

 

 And at 3.7, the anticipated environmental results expected from that 

special purpose zone. 30 

 

 KiwiRail is not aware of any policy shift reflected in either the 

Council’s evidence or in its section 32 analysis which demonstrates a 

need to shift to this more restrictive set of controls now being proposed 

through the transport zone. 35 

 

 In terms of the changes proposed by the Council, in my submission 

they lack foundation.  The Council places considerable weight on the 

potential need for the use of the rail corridor for a number of potential 

transport projects. 40 

 

 Mr Falconer suggested to you this morning in questions, a certain level 

of certainty around some of these projects.  In my submission, his 

evidence does not demonstrate that level of certainty and at paragraph 

3.12, over the page, I have listed some of the examples in 45 



 Page 43 

  

Ch7: Transport (Part) Commenced 29.09.15 

Mr Falconer’s evidence which clearly demonstrates a real lack of 

certainty regarding the future use of its transport zone. 

 

 At 3.14, the Council’s original section 32 report, did not contain any 

analysis of the costs or benefits of introducing these more restrictive 5 

regulations, and the updated section 32 report appended to 

Mr Falconer’s primary evidence, belatedly makes some additions about 

the balance the Council seeks to strike in relation to the relief sought. 

 

 In this next section, my submission is that the actual intention here by 10 

the Council supported by NZTA, is a protection of the corridor and I 

would suggest, sir, it is a designation by stealth.  The analysis 

Mr Falconer uses to justify the Council’s position, and he references 

that objective 3.3.12 as the other witnesses have.  In my submission, his 

analysis of that objective is narrow and unreasonably limits its scope.  15 

Mr Falconer focuses on the element of co-protection in sub paragraph 3 

as a support for the Council’s broader on uses which could impede the 

Council’s future development plans. 

 

 In my submission, Mr Falconer’s interpretation fails to consider the 20 

enabling aspect of the sub paragraph(a), the enabling of the safe 

efficient and effective development of infrastructure including the rail 

corridor, and that the protection element of the strategic framework that 

Mr Falconer relies so heavily on, in my submission, is aimed, 

particularly at reverse sensitivity effects from activities which may be 25 

appropriate near such infrastructure, not about preserving the corridor 

for some future possible use the Council may want to implement. 

 

 Mr Falconer makes that quite clear in those paragraphs I have 

referenced there and in particular at paragraph 5.3 of his rebuttal, 30 

Mr Falconer says, “The rail network could possibly be considered as an 

option in the future to provide a commuter rail service to provide some 

relief.  However, in order for this to remain an option, space in the rail 

corridor will need to be available to provide that service.” 

 35 

  [12.05 pm] 

 

 In my submission, if the Council wishes to properly protect parts of the 

corridor which are not presently used for rail purposes, but could 

potentially serve some future public transport role, then the obligation 40 

rests on the Council to designate and purchase that land. 

 

 And in questions from your Honour, this morning, my friend, Ms Scott, 

acknowledged that that may be appropriate and the designation may be 

an alternative.  Sir, I would not suggest it is more than a possible 45 

alternative. 
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 In terms of the relocatable activities matter in dispute, the Council 

seeks, of course, that any non-transport related activities on designated 

land in the transport zone, be relocatable. 

 5 

 I note there, and I pick it up again, there appears to be no such concern 

by the Council with permanent buildings on non-designated land in the 

same zone. 

 

 As is set out in Mr Munro’s evidence, it is not economically feasible 10 

for KiwiRail to limit the use of currently unused portions of its corridor 

for relocatable buildings.  Such a restriction would significantly 

constrain KiwiRail’s ability to put the land to an alternative productive 

use and would lead to large tracks of rail land within Christchurch 

either sitting idle or being put to a suboptimal use. 15 

 

 At paragraph 3.27 of my submissions, I note Mr Falconer suggests, and 

he reiterated it this morning, that if KiwiRail wants to provide non rail 

activities in the corridor and particularly permanent buildings, it should 

remove its designation. 20 

 

 In my submission, that statement appears to pat right across Mr 

Falconer’s concern that the transport zone be protected for transport 

purposes. 

 25 

 In my submission, Mr Falconer’s proposal to allow permanent 

buildings on land within the transport corridor that is not designated but 

relocatable buildings on land that is designated within the same zone, is 

not a sound or reasonable proposal to achieve the purposes of the 

RMA. 30 

 

 Turning to KiwiRail’s submission around the flexibility of all the 

zone’s activity statuses to the transport zone.  KiwiRail seeks that all 

adjoining zonings to the rail corridor activity statuses are applied to the 

transport zone, not simply the provisions narrowed, proposed to be 35 

narrowed by the Council. 

 

 In relation to the commercial zoning, in my submission the Council’s 

position that adjacent commercial zoning should be restricted from 

applying to the transport zone lacks foundation and the Council simply 40 

refers to the point that this could detract from the planning outcomes 

around the centres based approach. 

  

 By Mr Falconer’s own calculations, it is an additional 5.4 hectares of 

commercial zoning to the existing commercial land adjoining the rail 45 

corridor, and in my submission that represents no more than a minor 
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extension to existing zoned areas, not a cumulative and sporadic 

increase. 

 

 I also note that Mr Falconer has no such concern with the lack of 

economic evidence presented or not presented by KiwiRail in relation 5 

to the commercial of the additional, say, 5.4 hectares of commercial 

land but is comfortable with the addition of industrial, residential 

suburban and rural urban fringe. 

 

  [12.10 pm] 10 

 

 Turning briefly to the centreline approach matter.  I have set out at 

paragraphs 3.38 and through that page, a clarification point.  Mr 

Falconer helpfully suggested in his evidence that he accepted 

KiwiRail’s relief on how that centreline would be determined.  In fact, 15 

that is not KiwiRail’s relief, KiwiRail seeks that the centreline would 

be the centreline of the rail corridor, not the zone which of course may 

be, as Dr Mitchell noted wider than the corridor itself. 

 

 I also observe at 3.41 and this is a matter that was raised by Mr McKee 20 

in his written original submission, that if there are pockets of privately 

owned land within the transport zone, and I think this picks up on some 

of the questioning from the Panel this morning, KiwiRail’s submission 

is that those pockets should actually be more appropriately rezoned to 

some other transport zone, which in my submission, fits more 25 

comfortably with Mr Falconer’s comfort around having permanent 

buildings, for example, on those bits of land and would also resolve his 

concerns about the centreline approach. 

 

 Finally, the setback issue. 30 

 

 My friends have summarised and canvased those points.  KiwiRail’s 

position is that the setback control should be four metres across all 

zones.  It was never intended for land which KiwiRail has control over 

to be subject to the same setback control for the simple reason that 35 

setbacks help to manage what other people can do on land adjacent to 

yours, and serve no useful purpose on designated land where KiwiRail 

can, of course, through leases, exercise a significant amount of control 

over the interface between a building and its rail infrastructure. 

 40 

 I have attached to my legal submissions a consolidated version of the 

proposed KiwiRail relief on the provisions, and later Mr Falconer’s 

track change attached to his rebuttal to assist the Panel. 

 

 That is the end of my submissions, sir. 45 
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SJH:   Thank you, Mr Illingsworth? 

 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   No questions, sir. 

 

SJH:   Dr Mitchell. 5 

 

DR MITCHELL:   Thank you, sir.  Good morning, Ms Arthur-Young, just one 

question, you state at your paragraph 2.1, the required authority status 

of KiwiRail and that it can designate for rail purposes, what is the 

definition of rail purposes for the purposes of those designations, and 10 

how does that relate to the activities that are being proposed in this 

chapter of the Plan? 

 

MS ARTHUR-YOUNG:   It is very broad, sir, it is quite a historic designation 

and it is one of those lovely ones that essentially says, ‘for rail 15 

purposes’ so is very broad, conceivably could – certainly covers 

obviously all of KiwiRail’s activities, it could conceivably provide for 

those other rail purposes - - - 

 

DR MITCHELL:   So zoning land for transport purposes based on the 20 

designation would mean that the transport zone might be a bit of a 

misnomer in terms of a proportion of the KiwiRail land.  Is that fair? 

 

MS ARTHUR-YOUNG:   Precisely right. 

 25 

DR MITCHELL:   All right, thank you, thank you, sir. 

 

SJH:   Just following on from that, there is no evidence delineating between the 

two types of the land, is there? 

 30 

MS ARTHUR-YOUNG:   No, sir, the Council has sought this very broad 

transport zone which - - - 

 

SJH:   But you are not offering any evidence about that either? 

 35 

MS ARTHUR-YOUNG:   No, sir, KiwiRail does not oppose the transport zone 

underlined per se. 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Could you just go to your 3.34 about the commercial land?  

You will have read the submissions evidence in transcript of the 40 

Commercial Chapter? 

 

MS ARTHUR-YOUNG:   Yes. 

 

SJH:   And you will be aware of the restrictive nature of the RPS in relation to 45 

the protection of centres? 
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MS ARTHUR-YOUNG:   Yes. 

 

SJH:   And you will also be aware of the history through, I think it was Plan 

Change 53 of the problem caused by little bits of commercial being 5 

approved all over the place? 

 

MS ARTHUR-YOUNG:   Yes. 

 

SJH:   And everyone said they were of minor effect, and everyone ignored the 10 

cumulative effect, in other words, death by a thousand cuts which 

witness after witness warned us about. 

 

MS ARTHUR-YOUNG:   Yes. 

 15 

SJH:   Have you taken all of that into account in your statement there? 

 

MS ARTHUR-YOUNG:   Yes, sir. 

 

SJH:   And do either of your witnesses give evidence in relation to that because 20 

I could not find it? 

 

  [12.15 pm] 

 

MS ARTHUR-YOUNG:   Sir, I have taken account of that, Mr Munro in his 25 

evidence, talks about how actually the limitations of the KiwiRail 

estate and the narrow and irregularly shaped nature of that land, means 

that there is very low risk of any - - - 

 

SJH:   And where is that land in Christchurch? 30 

 

MS ARTHUR-YOUNG:   Mr Munro will probably be best to - - - 

 

SJH:   Is it in the evidence? 

 35 

MS ARTHUR-YOUNG:   Where the commercially zoned land is, no, sir, it is 

not. 

 

SJH:   Do you think maybe it should have been? 

 40 

MS ARTHUR-YOUNG:   Ah, it is referenced in Mr Falconer’s evidence, not 

mapped, - - - 

 

SJH:   No, well that is the point. 

 45 

MS ARTHUR-YOUNG:   You are looking for a map. 
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SJH:   Well maybe Mr Munro can help us anyway so you call him and we will 

see. 

 

MS ARTHUR-YOUNG:   If there are no further questions, I would like to call 5 

Mr Munro. 

 

SJH:   Thank you. 

 

10 
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<GORDON MUNRO, sworn [12.16 pm] 
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<EXAMINATION BY MS ARTHUR-YOUNG [12.16 pm] 

 

MS ARTHUR-YOUNG:   Is your full name Gordon Munro? 

 

MR MUNRO:   It is. 5 

 

MS ARTHUR-YOUNG:   And you are the manager of Property Revenue in 

KiwiRail’s property investment and revenue team? 

 

MR MUNRO:   I am. 10 

 

MS ARTHUR-YOUNG:   You have prepared a statement dated 16 September 

2015 which is before the Panel in these proceedings? 

 

MR MUNRO:   I have. 15 

 

MS ARTHUR-YOUNG:   Can you confirm to the Panel that to the best of your 

knowledge, your evidence is true and correct? 

 

MR MUNRO:  I can. 20 

 

MS ARTHUR-YOUNG:   Mr Munro, do you have any amendments or 

clarifications to that statement? 

 

MR MUNRO:   I do, just a correction to section 1.2 around my role of national 25 

as covering the southern region. 

 

MS ARTHUR-YOUNG:   And what is the correction there, sir? 

 

MR MUNRO:   So my role is a national role, not just covering the southern 30 

region. 

 

MS ARTHUR-YOUNG:   And could you please briefly summarise your 

statement and then answer any questions the Panel might then have for 

you. 35 

 

MR MUNRO:   I can.  So as stated by Council KiwiRail is a significant 

landlord in the Christchurch region with holdings, the largest holding is 

in Middleton, Waltham yards, trunk lines and the port links.  To give 

you an example of – to put into context, my role is looking after all the 40 

landholdings that are not required for immediate operational use.  In the 

Christchurch area, the area of that is about 28 hectares generating 3.9 

million dollars’ worth of revenue which my and my team manage on 

behalf of KiwiRail. 

 45 
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 Most of that is bare land, there are eight sites of commercial land and 

buildings, and there are another 30 sites that are industrial bare land.  

The rest of the revenue generation land is encroachment and small 

commercial holdings. 

 5 

 KiwiRail is also mandated by Government to conduct rail operations 

and also under the State Owned Enterprise Act to operate in a 

profitable manner.  That profitable manner needs to be comparable to 

businesses not owned by the Crown. 

 10 

 You will note in my evidence I have submitted a copy of the KiwiRail 

turnaround plan which is an immediate effect. 

 

 KiwiRail’s property policy as a whole to its landholdings is as follows: 

 15 

 KiwiRail holds land for current and future operational use, it holds land 

to enable its freight partners to move more freight by rail through 

sidings, freight hubs, land and building leases, that enable us to conduct 

our activities. 

 20 

 Where the land is not required for immediate operational use, the land 

can be leased to third parties to generate income which is directly 

funded back into the operational activities. 

 

 As part of the property policy, leases are limited to 35 years, the current 25 

average lease term in the Christchurch region is less than four years, 

any lease above 10 years needs Court approval.  Every lease that goes 

through requires operational approval which is an operational review if 

it is going to be required for immediate operational use, and can be 

leased to a third party.  Leases also contain resumption clauses of 12 30 

months which allow us to take back the land for operational role use.  

 

 While not a planner by trade, I understand both restrictions on the 

KiwiRail land would result in the suboptimal use of the land.   

 35 

  [12.20 pm] 

 

 It would make it harder to enable us to develop land for freight 

partners, it would lower rental returns, and it would lower the 

underlying values of the land. 40 

 

 In essence, it would be harder for me to do my job as manager of 

property revenue to provide the returns to KiwiRail as mandated by 

Government.   

 45 
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 Linwood is a good example where the land is not required for current 

operational use and is being leased to Fulton Hogan for nine years.  

That has funded the demolition of a contaminated building, resulting in 

a saving of $450,000, and is used for the storage of metal and eroding 

materials.  5 

 

 It should be noted that KiwiRail is also working with Council on 

cycleways and paths within the corridor.  The overriding concept of 

this partnership is to operate these activities in a safe manner along the 

rail corridor. 10 

 

 It is my view that the current plan adequately protects all interests and 

no change to a more restrictive use is required and would in fact 

unwind KiwiRail’s ability to meet its core operational activities. 

 15 

SJH:   Thank you.  Ms Scott?  Just before you go on, it might be helpful before 

cross-examination if you just identify those pockets of commercial 

land. 

 

MR MUNRO:   Sorry, sir, I have not gone through the portfolio from the 20 

zoning perspective. 

 

SJH:   Okay. 

 

MR MUNRO:   I think invariably it would be around Waltham Road, where 25 

we have Southern Demolition, Fletcher’s E Shed, along with Waltham 

yard. 

 

SJH:   All right, thank you. 

 30 

MR MUNRO:   More than likely to be commercial use. 

 

SJH:   Ms Scott? 

 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MS SCOTT [12.21 pm] 35 

 

MS SCOTT:   Thank you.  Good afternoon, Mr Munro.  You will be aware of 

the evidence brought by KiwiRail to the designations hearing, that all 

of the designated land is required for railway purposes? 

 40 

MR MUNRO:   I am. 

 

MS SCOTT:   And for land holdings not presently utilised for those rail 

purposes you would support the rules that allow Transport Zone land 

designated by KiwiRail or otherwise to be used for alternative 45 

purposes? 
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MR MUNRO:   I do. 

 

MS SCOTT:   But that use would be on the proviso that the alternative purpose 

does not undermine the long term potential for the land to be used for 5 

transport purposes if and when the need arises? 

 

MR MUNRO:   That is right. 

 

MS SCOTT:   You would agree with me that the outcome KiwiRail is seeking 10 

in the replacement plan is to encourage land uses near the railway 

corridors that do not compromise the short or the long term ability to 

operate a safe and efficient rail network? 

 

MR MUNRO:   Our mandate is to support the rail network first and foremost.  15 

It is not to supersede other transport uses.  In fact, we work with 

transport partners to succeed that.  So we work within our designated 

rights as the rail operator to promote rail use. 

 

MS SCOTT:   Thank you, that is helpful clarification.  So each of those 20 

outcomes sought by KiwiRail are achieved by physical buildings and 

structures within the designation being relocatable, aren’t they?  

 

MR MUNRO:   No, that would undermine the core objectives set by 

Government as an SOE to maximise the value of our land holdings to 25 

provide the best return on those land holdings to fund the operational 

activity of our core business.  

 

MS SCOTT:   But in terms of the primary purpose of the land, which is for the 

transport purposes you have just acknowledged? 30 

 

MR MUNRO:   The primary purpose is to run the rail corridor, so relocated 

buildings have no impact on the primary purpose.  But it does 

undermine the secondary purpose of providing return on our land. 

 35 

MS SCOTT:   Okay, thank you.  From a commercial perspective, KiwiRail is 

constantly assessing which rail land is not required for current rail 

operations, and where it is identified that there is no reasonable 

prospect of its use you look at disposing that land.  Is that correct? 

 40 

MR MUNRO:   We do, and the principles that I state in my evidence still 

apply.  We hold the land holdings for future use.  Where there is no 

immediate use, the land is then leased to third parties to fund the 

current operational use.   

 45 
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 We do constantly review what our land holdings are and where future 

use would allow for a disposal.  But those disposals are strategic in 

nature. 

 

MS SCOTT:   Okay, and when that land is disposed, it is on the open market?  5 

Is that correct? 

 

MR MUNRO:   Subject to the usual provisions of offering that through iwi, 

and certain Public Works Act provisions apply.  So it is a robust and 

thorough process in engagement with all the authorities that are 10 

required. 

 

  [12.25 pm] 

 

MS SCOTT:   So once that surplus land is disposed, KiwiRail has no control 15 

whatsoever over other land and of course any buildings and structures 

on it? 

 

MR MUNRO:   That is right. 

 20 

MS SCOTT:   So you would understand that the relief being put forward by Ms 

Hewett is that such buildings and structures could be smack-bang up 

against the railway corridor? 

 

MR MUNRO:   They would not be smack-bang up against the rail corridor.  25 

Our first and foremost primary objective is to ensure the safe 

management and operation of the rail corridor, so we would never put a 

building or allow a building to be built within an unsafe operational 

distance of the rail corridor.  

 30 

MS SCOTT:   So there is no justification for the zero metre setback being 

sought by KiwiRail? 

 

MR MUNRO:   The setback is in terms of where our boundary lies.  Our 

boundary always lies within a safe distance of the rail corridor, so a 35 

zero setback is acceptable. 

 

MS SCOTT:   Okay.  Thank you, sir.  No further questions. 

 

SJH:  Dr Mitchell? 40 

 

DR MITCHELL:   Thank you, sir.  Good afternoon, Mr Munro.  Just a couple 

of questions.  If the outcome of the rules that Ms Hewett proposes, 

whereby you can undertake activities that would be permitted in the 

adjacent zone on the KiwiRail land within the Transport Zone, if the 45 

outcome of that were to allow KiwiRail to complete a full-scale 
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industrial development across the width of the rail corridor, to the point 

that it actually severed the corridor, so it came in from both ends and 

had something in the middle – you have said that is not your intention. 

 

MR MUNRO:   No. 5 

 

DR MITCHELL:   But if the rules would allow that to happen, you wouldn’t 

support that?  Is that correct? 

 

MR MUNRO:   That is correct.  Developments like that would have to be on 10 

land that was well outside the rail corridor, and we would not have such 

holdings and terms, especially in Christchurch. 

  

DR MITCHELL:   So you would accept the principle that where something 

that was in what we might call the strategic rail corridor, those 15 

activities should not be allowed, full stop?   

 

 And in the interests of providing clarity and certainty, not just for 

KiwiRail but subsequent owners of that land if it was built upon, we 

should be transparent in that regard, shouldn’t we? 20 

 

MR MUNRO:   Technically, yes, but they would still undermine a large degree 

of value to the underlying land value that we may dispose of in the 

future.  It would also limit our ability to generate interim revenue from 

that land, which the taxpayer of New Zealand would then have to fund. 25 

 

DR MITCHELL:   But you would accept the basic proposition though, that 

maintaining that strategic corridor is pretty fundamental to the whole of 

your business now and in the future, and any resource management 

regime that created the potential for it to be built upon, and hence 30 

severed, is not what you would be intending, if that were the way that 

that played out? 

 

MR MUNRO:   There would be no intention of KiwiRail to ever sever the rail 

corridor.  35 

 

DR MITCHELL:   Thank you.  Counsel has explained that this 5.4 hectares of 

KiwiRail land abutting land that is zoned commercial, and she made 

the point that that was a minor blip on the landscape, as it were.   

 40 

 Have you done any analysis of what the development potential of that 

land is in terms of, for example, gross floor area? 

 

MR MUNRO:   No, I have not.  But to give you an example, I suppose, the 

development ratios are 40 percent of the gross area, from an industrial 45 

point of view.  
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DR MITCHELL:   And you have not done any comparison or can’t help us 

with how that would compare, say, to one of the Commercial Core 

zones within the city at the present point in time? 

 5 

MR MUNRO:   From our point of view, given the restrictive nature that we put 

on commercial development around that, it would be a lot less than – 

we would not be developing in any, like, shopping centres or strip 

malls.   

 10 

 I mean, anything that we do is really big industrial sheds and maybe 

some office that supports the industrial sheds, and those activities 

generally support the operation of either industrial type use or rail 

activities.  

 15 

 Our core tenants in the corridor are the likes of Fletchers, Southern 

Demolition, Fulton Hogan, and all those parties are sort of integral 

transport by nature.  

 

  [12.30 pm] 20 

 

DR MITCHELL:   So if the rules as drafted in the Plan were to actually 

facilitate the sorts of development that you say you would not ever 

contemplate, then that would be – the rules do not be that broad in 

order to protect the interests that you are seeking to protect?  Is that 25 

fair? 

 

MR MUNRO:   The rules – no, I do not think that is fair.  I think the rules need 

to support the highest and best use of the land and not undermine the 

highest and best use value of the land, and allow KiwiRail to treat its 30 

land as it sees fit within those rules. 

 

DR MITCHELL:   Just finally then, would you accept the proposition that 

whilst the KiwiRail land portfolio obviously has a strategic benefit to 

the company, that its wider strategic benefit to the nation as a whole is 35 

a subset of that total land holding, e.g. the corridor? 

 

MR MUNRO:   Sorry, can you restate the question please, sir? 

 

DR MITCHELL:   Obviously your land holding is of strategic importance to 40 

you as a company, but from a New Zealand Inc. perspective, the 

strategic part of that land holding is the corridor itself? 

 

MR MUNRO:   The land holding itself supports the operation of the rail 

network, so intermodal hubs, the freight yards, the adjoining land, that 45 

generates revenue to support the business that means the stakeholders, 
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the shareholders of New Zealand do not have to fund the KiwiRail 

business to the level that would be required if that land was taken away. 

 

 I agree with the principle that you are stating. 

 5 

DR MITCHELL:   All right, that is fine.  And sorry but I do have just one final 

question.  In terms of the list of activities that are undertaken on land 

that you lease out, and in your paragraph 3.3 there is quite a long list, 

do I take it that KiwiRail owns the land and in all cases the buildings 

on that land and that the lessee might have mobile plant or things that 10 

they can pick up and take away but the buildings also on that land are 

yours? 

 

MR MUNRO:   Not in every example, but there is one outlier that has special 

circumstances around it where KiwiRail does not own the building. 15 

 

DR MITCHELL:   But as a general proposition?  That is the sort of – your 

land, your asset, and they use it? 

 

MR MUNRO:   As a general proposition, yes.  The only other outlier, not in 20 

Christchurch but in other regions, where there is a freight partner that is 

enabling rail use and promotion of rail use would own the buildings on 

top of land.  We would provide the ground lease, and that is a strategic 

initiative. 

 25 

DR MITCHELL:   Okay, but the panel beaters and those sorts of things, 

they’re using your total assets. 

 

MR MUNRO:   Yes, it is ground leases. 

 30 

DR MITCHELL:   Yes, thank you.  Thank you, sir. 

 

SJH:   Just going back to Dr Mitchell’s question about the strategic role, seeing 

as it is part of the strategic transport network, you would accept that the 

strategic interest in the rail network is broader than just KiwiRail?  It is 35 

the nation’s strategic asset? 

 

MR MUNRO:   I would, yes. 

 

SJH:   Right.  Both in your counsel’s opening and in your own evidence you 40 

said that the longest rental term you would enter into is 35 years? 

 

MR MUNRO:   That is right. 

 

SJH:   And in fact your evidence said a lot of those would be a lot shorter? 45 

 



 Page 58 

  

Ch7: Transport (Part) Commenced 29.09.15 

MR MUNRO:   Absolutely. 

 

SJH:   What is to prevent that policy changing in the future?  Is there any 

statutory provision? 

 5 

MR MUNRO:   To stopping us going to 35 years? 

 

SJH:   Or 70 years or? 

 

MR MUNRO:   There is no statutory provision but it is market determined, so I 10 

think there is pretty strong evidence that the market will only engage in 

certain lease terms on commercial land, and 35 years would only really 

apply to outlying or rural holdings for a long term lease.  

 

SJH:   Again on that topic, the evidence was that the leases would always 15 

contain a clause that you can take the land back if you need it for rail 

purposes.  Again is that a statutory requirement or is that something 

that could be changed in the future if the board so decided? 

 

MR MUNRO:   Sorry, Your Honour, I do not know if it is a statutory 20 

requirement.  I do know it is mandated by the board. 

 

SJH:   At the moment? 

 

MR MUNRO:   At the moment. 25 

 

SJH:   But that can always change, of course. 

 

MR MUNRO:   By resolution from the board. 

 30 

SJH:   Yes.  Just finally, you talked about the development of – you are not 

interested in the shopping centres or strip malls or things like that in 

any commercially zoned land.  Again that is the current position but 

there would be, again, nothing to prevent that change by resolution of 

the board? 35 

 

  [12.35 pm] 

 

MR MUNRO:   No, there would be nothing to prevent the development of that 

where it was well outside the immediate rail use.   40 

 

 I would say in those sort of circumstances where those sorts of 

developments were being looked at, then the land would tend – with a 

precursor – to fall into the strategic non-required for future operational 

use, because in order to get a development like that to work you would 45 
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need a 50-year plus life of the buildings and then you would be over the 

35-year life of the lease.   

 

 So for us to enable that sort of development simply does not work from 

a development feasibility point of view.  So we would have to look at a 5 

disposal strategy.   

 

 But it would allow us to realise the underlying value of the holdings; 

dispose of the land, get the return to fund the business going forward.  

So that is where it falls into the strategic disposal type revenue 10 

generation criteria. 

 

SJH:   Understanding that, there is still an element in this, isn’t there, of “trust 

us, we would never do this”? 

 15 

MR MUNRO:   Absolutely. 

 

SJH:   Ms Scott, anything arising from the Panel’s questions? 

 

MS SCOTT:   No, thank you, sir. 20 

 

SJH:   Ms Arthur-Young, anything or re-examination? 

 

MS ARTHUR-YOUNG:   No, sir. 

 25 

SJH:   Thank you.  Thank you, Mr Munro, you may stand down. 

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [12.36 pm] 

 

SJH:   Yes, Ms Arthur-Young? 30 

 

MS ARTHUR-YOUNG:   Thank you, sir.  Now I would like to call KiwiRail’s 

second witness, Ms Deborah Hewett. 

 

SJH:   Thank you. 35 
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<MS DEBORAH HEWETT, affirmed  [12.37 pm] 
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<EXAMINATION BY MS ARTHUR-YOUNG [12.38 pm] 

 

MS ARTHUR-YOUNG:   Ms Hewett, is your full name Deborah Ann Hewett? 

 

MS HEWETT:   Yes, it is. 5 

 

MS ARTHUR-YOUNG:   And you are a senior RMA advisor for KiwiRail? 

 

MS HEWETT:   I am. 

 10 

MS ARTHUR-YOUNG:   You prepared a statement dated 16 September 2015 

which is before the Panel in these proceedings? 

 

MS HEWETT:   Yes, correct. 

 15 

MS ARTHUR-YOUNG:   Can you confirm to the Panel that to the best of your 

knowledge your evidence is true and correct? 

 

MS HEWETT:   Yes, I can.  

 20 

MS ARTHUR-YOUNG:   Did you have any amendments or clarifications to 

make to that evidence? 

 

MS HEWETT:   There would be one clarification. 

 25 

SJH:   Could you just speak into the microphone a little bit more so that we 

pick it up on the record?  Thank you. 

 

MS HEWETT:   Yes, there will be, and I think it something that has actually 

been picked up by Mr Falconer, and this appears to be inconsistent with 30 

our legal submissions as related to referencing the rule framework to 

noise sensitive activities. 

 

SJH:   So what paragraph of your evidence? 

 35 

MS HEWETT:   That will actually be in the amendments to the transport rules. 

 

SJH:   And the rule? 

 

MS ARTHUR-YOUNG:   Ms Hewett, is that the version attached to the legal 40 

submissions? 

 

MS HEWETT:   That is the version, yes, attached to legal submissions. 

 

SJH:   Perhaps you could help, Ms Arthur-Young.  What page, do you know?  45 

No? 
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MS HEWETT:   Okay, that commences on page 12. 

 

SJH:   Thank you. 

 5 

MS HEWETT:   At P17.  Also on page 13, P18.   

 

MS ARTHUR-YOUNG:   And is that deleting the word “noise”? 

 

MS HEWETT:   That is correct.  Deleting the word “noise”. 10 

 

SJH:   It is on page 14 as well, isn’t it? 

 

MS HEWETT:   Correct, it is on page 14.   

 15 

SJH:   Thank you. 

 

MS ARTHUR-YOUNG:   So if you could summarise your evidence and 

answer any questions.  Thank you. 

 20 

MS HEWETT:   Thank you.  Yes, the three main points my evidence covers – 

my first point relates to enabling non-rail related activities, including 

buildings on the Transport Zone.  KiwiRail seeks flexibility of an 

underlying zone, the same as that adjoining, to continue to utilise rail 

land for a commercial basis and for land that is not presently being 25 

used for rail purposes as an interim use of the land.  We seek to manage 

the asset portfolio in the most effective and efficient way possible, and 

we consider this to be appropriate in that KiwiRail’s intention is not to 

create a reverse sensitivity effect on its own rail corridor and for its 

own operations, and also we seek to maintain the future use of that land 30 

for associated transport opportunities including the possibility of 

passenger rail where that is shown to be supported through, I guess, 

longer – through a business case. 

 

  [12.40 pm] 35 

 

 To this end, we seek the full complement of the adjoining zones to 

provide that flexibility and opportunity.  It also provides for KiwiRail 

consistency and certainty and I consider that it simplifies the Plan and 

the application in terms of the rule framework to that.  And it also 40 

provides certainty to adjoining landowners in that they will know the 

types of activities that will occur next to their properties as it relates to 

the adjoining zones. 
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 My second point relates to enabling buildings to be constructed without 

requiring them to be relocatable.  There is no building that cannot be 

moved, and it is simply a cost and a time consideration.   

 

 It is unusual, in my opinion, and actually unreasonable, to require 5 

relocatable buildings in a zone like this when there is in fact no 

pressure for public transport needs and they have not been determined 

or identified in the Plan as such. 

 

 As far as I am aware, there are no planning decisions, there is no 10 

business case or financial commitments for light rail in particular, and 

we have heard from Mr Falconer regarding cycleways in terms of the 

longterm plan where we have not established exactly where the 

commitment is in relation to those and when, and the nature of that 

commitment.  Those matters do need to be discussed with KiwiRail and 15 

KiwiRail would need to agree to that occurring and that would also be 

considered in relation to the needs of the rail corridor for freight, in 

particular, at this point in time. 

 

 Whether buildings are permanent or not, in my view, is a business 20 

decision and that would be made by a prospective tenant.  KiwiRail 

would manage that aspect of it as you have heard from Mr Munro, 

through timeframes in and around the lease agreements and also the 

nature of that lease agreement and the risk should a tenant choose to 

build something more permanent would be taken by that tenant. 25 

 

 There is no similar requirement elsewhere that I can see across 

Christchurch in terms of a zone needing to have relocatable buildings 

on it and to my mind it is not relevant as to whether the designation is 

removed or not as to whether a building is to be permanent or not, and 30 

that is the proposition that was put up by Mr Falconer for the Ensors 

Road and other private land – Ensors Road site and other private land 

within the transport zone. 

 

 My third point relates to setbacks and in my evidence I have identified 35 

that KiwiRail does not intend that the setbacks we have highlighted for 

adjoining zones applies to the rail corridor, and that is for the reason 

that KiwiRail has the mandate and is able to manage those activities on 

its own corridor in terms of safety and maintenance requirements alike, 

and also, I guess, looking into where we might require to make changes 40 

to the rail network and signalling. 

 

  [12.45 pm] 

 

 I have a concern regarding the 1.5 metre setback that has been 45 

proposed for Mr McKee’s site at Ensors Road that should that be 
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accepted that would become the setback proposed potentially for the 

adjoining zones, and I do not consider that that can be considered to be 

applied more broadly across those zones, nor should be. 

 

 In my view, KiwiRail has sought originally through its submission, a 5 

five metre setback from adjoining zones, it has agreed to a 

(INDISTINCT 1.01), we have subsequently revised that to a four 

metre setback for a permitted activity standard and we would then 

review those proposals that come forward in terms of their location and 

the nature of those proposals to identify an appropriate to a setback in 10 

relation to maintaining the safety and efficiency of the rail network. 

 

 That is all, sir. 

 

SJH:   Ms Scott? 15 

 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MS SCOTT [12.46 pm] 

 

MS SCOTT:   Thank you, sir, good afternoon, Ms Hewett.  So just to start 

with, KiwiRail is not challenging that the primary role of the transport 20 

zone is for transport purposes? 

 

MS HEWETT:   No, we are not. 

 

MS SCOTT:   I have got three different topics to work through, the first is 25 

commercial activities and the difference in opinion between yourself 

and the Council and the Crown on whether adjoining commercial 

activities can be allowed within the transport zone. 

 

 You have provided evidence at the Stage 1 Hearing on the Commercial 30 

Chapter, but that evidence focuses on the four metre global setback that 

KiwiRail is seeking? 

 

MS HEWETT:   Correct. 

 35 

MS SCOTT:   And it does not touch on the centres hierarchy or Higher Order 

policy direction, does it? 

 

MS HEWETT:   No, it does not. 

 40 

MS SCOTT:   In terms of this centres based strategic approach adopted by the 

Council in the Proposed Plan, it recognises the form, role and function 

of various centres including the Central City, key activity centres, 

district centres and local centres.  Do you accept that?  

 45 

MS HEWETT:   Yes. 
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MS SCOTT:   And the Commercial Proposal has been drafted in a way that 

generally directs new commercial activity into centres through use of 

zoning and planning provisions? 

 5 

MS HEWETT:   Yes. 

 

MS SCOTT:   And such an approach provides certainty to allow for a rapid and 

successful recovery by encouraging investment and development in 

appropriate locations.  Do you agree with that? 10 

 

MS HEWETT:   Yes. 

 

MS SCOTT:   Okay, I have been trying to find in your evidence where you 

have assessed the relief you are seeking against both Higher Order 15 

objectives and policies and also the Replacement District Plan Strategic 

Directions framework. 

 

 Where is your assessment of opening up further land for commercial 

activity against chapter 6 of the RPS? 20 

 

MS HEWETT:   I have not undertaken an assessment in relation to that specific 

zone. 

 

MS SCOTT:   Okay, I am particularly interested in policy 5.3.7.2 of the RPS.  25 

That policy seeks in relation to the Strategic Land Transport Network, 

“The avoidance of development which forecloses the opportunity for 

the development of this network to meet future strategic transport 

requirements.”  You did not think that policy was worth mentioning in 

your evidence or giving consideration? 30 

 

MS HEWETT:   I did not consider that the evidence that I have provided 

forecloses the opportunity, so I did not consider that that was relevant 

for my submission. 

 35 

MS SCOTT:   Not relevant at all? 

 

MS HEWETT:   Inasmuch as I have mentioned in my evidence that I do not 

believe that enabling activities that are non-rail related, forecloses the 

opportunity. 40 

 

MS SCOTT:   And in terms of enabling these commercial activities, surely 

objective 6.2.5 of the RPS which directs the centres approach would be 

relevant for your consideration, it is titled “Key Activity in Other 

Centres”.  It is the Regional Policy Statement, chapter 6, page 52 – if 45 

you just take a moment to read that. 



 Page 66 

  

Ch7: Transport (Part) Commenced 29.09.15 

  [12.50 pm] 

 

MS HEWETT:   Yes. 

 

MS SCOTT:   That objective is relevant to the relief you are seeking, is it not? 5 

 

MS HEWETT:   Can you repeat that please. 

 

MS SCOTT:   That objective from the RPS is relevant to the relief you are 

seeking. 10 

 

MS HEWETT:   Correct. 

 

MS SCOTT:   And also objective 6.26 on the same page, sub-clause 3, “New 

commercial activities are primarily directed to the central city, key 15 

activity centres and neighbourhood centres”, also relevant is it not? 

 

MS HEWETT:   Correct. 

 

MS SCOTT:   Now if we could turn to policy 6.36 titled “Business Land”, sub-20 

clause 4, again recognises that new commercial activities are primarily 

to be directed to the central city, key activity centres and 

neighbourhood centres, and then the second part of that sub-clause 4 

“Or in circumstances where locating out of centre will not give rise to 

significant adverse distributional or urban form effects”, again it is 25 

relevant, is it not? 

 

MS HEWETT:   Yes. 

 

MS SCOTT:   Okay, thank you. And in the Replacement District Plan what 30 

about objective 3.3.12(b), also relevant to the relief that you are 

pursuing and supporting? Have you read the Strategic Direction to this? 

 

MS HEWETT:   I have, yes, and that is cited in my evidence. 

 35 

MS SCOTT:   But you have not mentioned that objective have you? 

 

MS HEWETT:   Not specifically, I have referred to that by way of Mr 

Falconer’s evidence. 

 40 

MS SCOTT:   Okay, so you accept Mr Falconer’s evidence? 

 

MS HEWETT:   In relation to the objectives, yes. 
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MS SCOTT:   Okay. So we have no evidence or assessment of opening up 

further land for commercial activity against the objectives and policies 

of the commercial chapter either, do we? 

 

MS HEWETT:   Correct. 5 

 

MS SCOTT:   Okay, so when no analysis of the development potential under 

each of the commercial zones that you seek to be applicable in the 

transport zone? 

 10 

MS HEWETT:   No. 

 

MS SCOTT:   And KiwiRail’s evidence doesn’t outline the quantity or area of 

that land either, does it? 

 15 

MS HEWETT:   No. 

 

MS SCOTT:   Okay, and in my friend’s opening submissions for KiwiRail this 

morning, she stated that “KiwiRail is not aware of any policy shift from 

the Operative City Plan, reflected in either the Council’s evidence or its 20 

section 32 analysis which demonstrates a need for more restrictive 

controls being proposed by the Council”, do your recall that? 

 

MS HEWETT:   I do. 

 25 

MS SCOTT:   Reflecting on the documents that you have failed to mention and 

consider in your evidence, we have obviously had a series of significant 

earthquakes in Christchurch, would you accept as a proposition that as 

a result we now have a number of high order policy documents, the 

first is the Land Use Recovery Plan? 30 

 

MS HEWETT:   Yes, I do. 

 

MS SCOTT:   And that directed that we have a new chapter 6 be included in 

the RPS which is titled “Recovery and Rebuilding of Greater 35 

Christchurch”? 

 

MS HEWETT:   Yes, I do, KiwiRail - - -  

 

MS SCOTT:   Can we have this - - -  40 

 

MS HEWETT:   - - - has submitted or provided feedback in relation to the 

LURP document. 

 

MS SCOTT:   And we have a Central City Recovery Plan? 45 

 



 Page 68 

  

Ch7: Transport (Part) Commenced 29.09.15 

MS HEWETT:   Yes. 

 

MS SCOTT:   We have an order in Council and of course we have the Strategic 

Directions objectives and policies. Would you accept that there has 

been a policy shift, a higher order policy shift that needs to be 5 

considered, compared to the Operative City Plan? 

 

MS HEWETT:   Yes, I do. 

 

MS SCOTT:   Okay, just in terms of the other activities that you are seeking 10 

come across into the transport zone, for example industrial heavy 

activities, I have not found anywhere in your evidence a list of the 

adjacent zonings that would come cross, is that correct? It is not 

provided in the evidence for KiwiRail? 

 15 

MS HEWETT:   It is provided in the evidence – in my evidence, referred to 

also in legal submissions, in terms of the appendix A. 

 

MS SCOTT:   Okay, appendix A. 

 20 

MS HEWETT:   Mm'hm. 

 

MS SCOTT:   Have you outlined – taken into account that sensitive activities 

are off the table, have you undertaken an analysis of what activities 

would actually be able to take place in the transport zone under the 25 

relief you are seeking? 

 

MS HEWETT:   Yes, I have considered that. 

 

  [12.55 pm] 30 

 

MS SCOTT:   Did you include it in your evidence? 

 

MS HEWETT:   No, I didn’t see that that was necessary - it is in the appendix 

A, in terms of what can occur in the transport zone. 35 

 

MS SCOTT:   So taking out “sensitive activities”, there is a lack of certainty 

for the Hearing’s Panel in considering the relief that KiwiRail is 

seeking and your evidence about what could actually take place in the 

transport zone, isn’t there? 40 

 

MS HEWETT:   Mm'hm – sorry, can you repeat that? 

 

MS SCOTT:   There is a lack of certainty about what activities could actually 

take place in the transport zone when you take sensitive activities off 45 
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the table. What activities are left over in terms of what could come 

across into the transport zone? 

 

MS HEWETT:   From an underlying zone – from the adjoining zones - - -  

 5 

MS SCOTT:   Yes. 

 

MS HEWETT:   - - - is that correct? 

 

MS SCOTT:   Yes. 10 

 

MS HEWETT:   A number of activities could come across – I have not looked 

at them in detail. I do not think that that is necessary. I am looking at a 

higher order philosophical view in terms of how those zones, the 

activities that would come into the corridor would be compatible with 15 

the adjoining zones, so that we would not end up with a result of 

incompatible activities happening in those adjoining zones. 

 

MS SCOTT:   Okay, that answer is very helpful. 

 20 

 Just moving onto setbacks for non-transport activities – this is the 

second issue – KiwiRail’s submission and evidence in other hearings 

prior to this one, is for a consistent four metre setback “all zones” in the 

plan, is that correct? 

 25 

MS HEWETT:   Not for all zones in the plan, not for the transport zone. 

 

MS SCOTT:   Have you had a look at KiwiRail’s submission on that? 

 

MS HEWETT:   We have not submitted on the transport zone, we have not 30 

provided a submission on the transport zone in particular for a four 

metre setback. 

 

MS SCOTT:   So you are not seeking a four metre setback - - -  

 35 

MS HEWETT:   No we are not. 

 

MS SCOTT:   - - - for land within the transport zone that is not owned by 

KiwiRail or designated? 

 40 

MS HEWETT:   That is correct. 

 

MS SCOTT:   Okay. The purpose of this four metre setback that you have 

sought elsewhere across the plan, my understanding from your earlier 

statements of evidence, are that there is essentially four reasons, the 45 

first is to ensure that buildings can be maintained without the need to 
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enter the rail corridor as this raises serious health and safety issues, is 

that correct? 

 

MS HEWETT:   Correct. 

 5 

MS SCOTT:   And that the nature of activities within the rail corridor makes 

scheduling and accommodating safe access extremely difficult and 

would again be a health and safety risk. 

 

MS HEWETT:   Yes.  10 

 

MS SCOTT:   Third, that buildings built directly on the boundary with the rail 

corridor give risks to issues with respect to cleaning, painting and 

otherwise maintaining such buildings. 

 15 

MS HEWETT:   Correct. 

 

MS SCOTT:   And that there is a need to avoid the potential for unintended 

trespass on or over the rail corridor. 

 20 

MS HEWETT:   Yes. 

 

MS SCOTT:   And first of those reason the need to manage and consider 

appropriate planning measures that provide among other matters for 

people’s health and safety that is a matter that sits within part 2 of the 25 

Act, correct? 

 

MS HEWETT:   Correct. 

 

MS SCOTT:   And you say that none of these adverse effects in health and 30 

safety risks are relevant considerations for the designated land because 

KiwiRail can effectively manage the land under the designation, is that 

correct? 

 

MS HEWETT:   What we are saying is, that they are relevant, they are 35 

extremely relevant and that the nature of the activity to be undertaken 

and where it is located would be considered in terms of a development 

proposal that was put to us and the appropriate conditions put in place 

either through a lease or a prospective tenant would be required to get a 

resource consent in relation to activities that were not compatible with 40 

the adjoining zone. 

 

MS SCOTT:   Okay, given it is extremely important, would you agree with me 

that there is a need for a setback even under designated land owned by 

KiwiRail? 45 
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MS HEWETT:   Can you repeat that please? 

 

MS SCOTT:   Given that the concerns that you have agreed to, the four 

concerns, are extremely important for KiwiRail, would you agree with 

me that there is a need for a setback from the rail corridor, for all land 5 

whether owned by KiwiRail or not? 

 

MS HEWETT:   That would depend on the nature of the activity, but in a 

situation where a building would need to potentially require 

maintenance, yes, there would be a need for a setback. 10 

 

  [1.00 pm] 

 

MS SCOTT:   Thank you and in terms of the disposal of land not required 

anymore by KiwiRail this land is disposed to private landowners.  How 15 

are those private landowners meant to maintain structures and 

dwellings that are built right up to the railway corridor without entering 

the rail corridor?  Can I suggest to you that they cannot? 

 

MS HEWETT:   That is difficult, yes. 20 

 

MS SCOTT:   Okay just turning to - - - 

 

MS HEWETT:   What I would say is that some of that land that has been sold 

has been transferred to Land Information New Zealand and has been 25 

sold not necessarily by KiwiRail. 

 

MS SCOTT:   But that land is opened up.  It goes to the open market so there is 

a prospect that anyone can own it? 

 30 

MS HEWETT:  Not necessarily.  There is a proper structure and process 

around how that land comes to be in private ownership and that may 

involve iwi interests as well. 

 

MS SCOTT:  Absolutely. Okay. In terms of the third issue, relocatable 35 

buildings and structures, you drafted and signed off KiwiRail’s 

submission, didn’t you? 

 

MS HEWETT:   I drafted it and yes, I did sign it off. 

 40 

MS SCOTT:   And you would accept that KiwiRail sought amendments to 

policy 9 through its submission including recognition that non-transport 

related activities do not prevent the land reverting to a transport use 

being required? 

 45 

MS HEWETT:   Correct. 
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MS SCOTT:   And that the development and use for railway corridors can be 

used for non-transport related activities without undermining the future 

use of the corridor for transport purposes? 

 5 

MS HEWETT:   Yes. 

 

MS SCOTT:   And one way to achieve this policy direction is to ensure that all 

buildings and structures are relocatable? 

 10 

MS HEWETT:   No, I do not agree with that. 

 

MS SCOTT:  You do not agree that one way of achieving that policy direction? 

 

MS HEWETT:   I agree that that is one way potentially of achieving that if we 15 

are looking at it in that context but I would suggest that that of itself 

would not necessarily achieve that because KiwiRail is able to sell the 

land. 

 

MS SCOTT:   Okay, one final question, would you accept the Crown, NZTA, 20 

has an interest in KiwiRail’s relief because the rules you are proposing 

apply to the Transport zone generally, not just to KiwiRail’s designated 

land? 

 

MS HEWETT:   In that context yes but I would continue to identify that 25 

KiwiRail’s submission, if that becomes an issue, is what is entirely 

relating to KiwiRail land.  It is not intended to relate to other land 

within the Transport zone. 

 

MS SCOTT:   Okay, thank you for your evidence.  No further questions, sir. 30 

 

SJH:   Ms Wedde? 

 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MS WEDDE [1.03 pm] 

 35 

MS WEDDE:   Thank you, sir, and good afternoon, Ms Hewett. 

 

MS HEWETT:   Good afternoon. 

 

MS WEDDE:   I do not have many questions because my friend, Ms Scott, has 40 

covered most of the matters that I wanted to cover with you.  Just one 

follow-up question on policy 5.3.7 of the Regional Policy Statement.  I 

heard you say that you did not consider that in preparing your evidence 

because you did not consider the provisions proposed by KiwiRail to 

foreclose future opportunities?  5.3.72 45 
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MS HEWETT:   Correct, correct. 

 

MS WEDDE:   Are you aware of the definition of strategic transport in the 

Regional Policy Statement? 

 5 

MS HEWETT:   I am aware of it but I have not got it in front of me or cannot 

recall it at this point. 

 

MS WEDDE:   Are you aware that strategic transport network includes public 

passenger transport operations? 10 

 

MS HEWETT:   Yes. 

 

MS WEDDE:  Did you give that any consideration when coming to the 

conclusion that the provisions KiwiRail are proposing would not 15 

foreclose the opportunity for future developments for such strategic 

transport infrastructure? 

 

MS HEWETT:   Yes, very much so and in relation to that you have heard from 

Mr Munro as well talking about the term of the lease, that KiwiRail has 20 

the ability to specify, which could be any length of term up to 35 years 

to manage the land until such land is required for public use in terms of 

transport use. 

 

  [1.05 pm] 25 

 

MS WEDDE:   So you are relying on KiwiRail’s ability to control that use 

through its property arrangements? 

 

MS HEWETT:   Correct. 30 

 

MS WEDDE:   Right, and KiwiRail is not required to consult with other 

interested parties as an income to those leasing arrangements or other 

property arrangements is it? 

 35 

MS HEWETT:   It is not required to but what I would say is KiwiRail is 

significantly involved in the transport strategies and discussion with 

NZTA and Lyttelton Port and Christchurch City in relation to the rail 

corridor and you have heard from Mr Falconer that that has occurred in 

relation to cycleways on the rail corridor.   40 

 

 KiwiRail submitted as I said to the Land Use Recovery Plan, we have 

also involved in a memorandum of understanding with Lyttelton Port to 

get that up and running so we have and consider what occurs in terms 

of the public space in Lyttelton so we are very mindful of that and that 45 

land as Mr Munro has said, we have a policy of holding that land and 
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managing that land appropriately and effectively and efficiently as we 

possibly can, until such time as that is available, is needed for this.  

And at this point in time there is as I have previously mentioned no 

business case for light rail and there has not been any funding or 

planning decisions put forward in respect of light rail in particular, and 5 

similarly cycleways, we have yet to hear about what is in the long term 

plan but we are in discussion with the Council on those. 

 

MS WEDDE:   Moving to a different topic, I could not see in your evidence 

any reference to the objectives that were confirmed for the Transport 10 

chapter through the stage 1 hearing.  Did you consider those in 

preparing your evidence? 

 

MS HEWETT:   In the – can you repeat that please? 

 15 

MS WEDDE:   The objectives and policy framework for the Transport chapter 

that have been confirmed by this Hearings Panel as part of its stage 1 

decision. 

 

MS HEWETT:   Yes, we support that.  There was not a need to increase that 20 

because we felt that was appropriate. 

 

MS WEDDE:   You support that.  And did you consider those objectives and 

policies in preparing your evidence for this hearing? 

 25 

MS HEWETT:   Yes. 

 

MS WEDDE:  Can I ask you please to look at objective 7.1.1A of the 

Transport decision?  Perhaps we could bring that up?  So you will see 

there 7.1.1 objective 1A(ii) - - - 30 

 

MS HEWETT:   Yes. 

 

MS WEDDE:  - - - seeks an integrated transport system for Christchurch 

district that is responsive to the current recovery needs but also future 35 

needs? 

 

MS HEWETT:   Yes. 

 

MS WEDDE:   Do you agree that is a forward-looking objective? 40 

 

MS HEWETT:   Yes. 

 

MS WEDDE:   And at AB do you see there the objective is also an integrated 

transport system that is managed using the one network approach? 45 
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MS HEWETT:   Correct and KiwiRail and in my evidence as well has 

identified that we are a party to the one network approach. 

 

MS WEDDE:   Yes, so KiwiRail supports the one network approach? 

 5 

MS HEWETT:   Correct. 

 

MS WEDDE:   Thank you, sir, no further questions. 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Mr Illingsworth? 10 

 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   Good afternoon. 

 

MS HEWETT:   Good afternoon. 

 15 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   So my question relates to the zero setback.  I am just 

a little bit confused about it so I am assuming that the rail corridor at 

times can be the edge of the Transport zone but at times can sit within 

the Transport zone and there would be land outside the rail corridor that 

is designated Transport zone, is that correct? 20 

 

MS HEWETT:   Yes, it appears to be. 

 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   So is the zero setback related to setback of buildings 

which are in the Transport zone that are not in the corridor in relation to 25 

the edge of the corridor? 

 

  [1.10 pm] 

 

MS HEWETT:   What we have identified is the setback from the rail corridor. 30 

 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   Yes, so in the case that KiwiRail owns land that is 

inside the Transport zone but not inside the rail corridor, or is it all is 

it?  Is that where you are setting the zero setback? 

 35 

MS HEWETT:   The setback, yes the setback for adjoining parties is related to 

the rail corridor.   

 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   I might not be being very clear.  So in the situation 

you have a rail corridor, at times that could be the edge of the Transport 40 

zone? 

 

MS HEWETT:   Yes. 

 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   At times it is not because there may be some land 45 

associated with it, there may be a future use for a rail station or some 
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other facility, so the zero setback that KiwiRail is proposing, is that 

related to the Transport zone land owned by KiwiRail that is not inside 

the corridor?  Is the setback to the edge of the corridor? 

 

MS HEWETT:   The KiwiRail corridor land that is designated, and there may 5 

be some land that is not designated, the designated land is wholly 

within the Transport zone.  So there will be a - - - 

 

SJH:   The difficulty is, isn’t it, that if it is all designated by KiwiRail, some of 

it is the track corridor and some is outside it. 10 

 

MS HEWETT:   I guess what - - - 

 

SJH:   Isn’t that the position? 

 15 

MS HEWETT:   Well the situation is that when we talk about the rail corridor, 

that includes the lines and then the land beyond that. 

 

SJH:   The rail corridor you refer to, is that the designated land? 

 20 

MS HEWETT:   Correct. 

 

SJH:   Right.  But there is a distinction between the track corridor and land 

outside of that.  Because you are not going to build on the track 

corridor are you?  Or one would hope not. 25 

 

MS HEWETT:   No that is correct. 

 

SJH:   But I think the question relates to the - - - 

 30 

MS HEWETT:   Oh, my understanding - - - 

 

SJH:   - - - line between that.  Is that? 

 

MS HEWETT:   Is that right? 35 

 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   That is the question, yes. 

 

MS HEWETT:   Okay. 

 40 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   So is the zero setback, setback from the rail corridor 

boundary if you like, where - - - 

 

SJH:   Let’s, I think – so we don’t get in the same confusion - - -  

 45 

MS HEWETT:   No. 
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SJH:   - - - because the witness did not seem to understand what I thought was 

clear.  Let’s use the edge of the track corridor. 

 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   Correct, that’s okay, thank you.  So is the zero 5 

setback from the edge of the track corridor? 

 

MS HEWETT:   There is no setback required from the edge of the track 

because we do not look at it in that way and we are not seeking a 

setback in relation to that. Sir, just in terms of your question about you 10 

hope we would not build on the track, that is correct, but what I would 

say is - - - 

 

SJH:   No, I was trying to clarify that you are adding layers of confusion on 

confusion to be frank in the evidence you have been giving and your 15 

answers to questions. 

 

MS HEWETT:   Right. 

 

SJH:   Because it is not clear exactly what you are seeking, your employer is 20 

seeking, in relation to the setback.  That is all we are asking, for you to 

make that perfectly clear to us.  And where do you measure the setback 

from? 

 

MS HEWETT:   The setback is measured from the rail corridor boundary. 25 

 

SJH:   Which means your designation boundary? 

 

MS HEWETT:   Yes, correct. 

 30 

SJH:   The edge of the zone boundary? 

 

MS HEWETT:   No.  The designated rail corridor boundary. 

 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   Which is the track corridor. 35 

 

MS HEWETT:   Or where rail land is not designated, then from the boundary 

of the rail land. 

 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   I am still a little bit confused but could I just ask this 40 

question?  Could the edge of the track corridor in some cases be the 

edge of the Transport zone as well? 

 

MS HEWETT:   No, it would not be because there is all – and I am taking what 

you understand to be a track corridor is the part of it with the rails 45 

where the train runs on, is that correct? 



 Page 78 

  

Ch7: Transport (Part) Commenced 29.09.15 

 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:  Well some distance either side of the centre of the 

track. 

 

MS HEWETT:   And there is an area either side of the track. 5 

 

  [1.15 pm] 

 

SJH:   If we had been provided with some decent plans by KiwiRail of the 

sufficient scale a lot of this might have been answered.  And we have 10 

not been provided with it, have we? 

 

MS HEWETT:   No, sir.  

 

SJH:   So you will provide it for us with your closing? 15 

 

MS HEWETT:   Certainly, sir. 

 

SJH:   Thank you. 

 20 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   No more questions, sir. 

 

SJH:   And we will need clarification very clearly round this because KiwiRail 

has created the confusion here. 

 25 

MS HEWETT:  Sir, I will clarify that in closing.  The setback issue has 

actually been raised through Council’s position. 

 

SJH:   I know who has raised it but I also know where the confusion is coming 

from. 30 

 

MS HEWETT:   Certainly, we will clarify in closing, sir. 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Dr Mitchell. 

 35 

DR MITCHELL:   Thank you, sir.  No I don’t think I do have any questions.  

Thank you. 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Anything arising, Ms Wedde? 

 40 

MS WEDDE:   No thank you, sir. 

 

SJH:   Ms Scott. 

 

MS SCOTT:   No thank you, sir. 45 

 



 Page 79 

  

Ch7: Transport (Part) Commenced 29.09.15 

SJH:   Anything arising on re-examination? 

 

MS ARTHUR-YOUNG:   No, sir. 

 

SJH:   Thank you, you may stand down, Ms Hewett. 5 

 

MS HEWETT:   Thank you. 

 

SJH:   You have completed your case now so you may be excused but before 

you go our normal practice is to grant leave to file written submissions 10 

rather than speak to them now which is a bit – do you want to avail 

yourself with that? 

 

MS HEWETT:   Yes, sir, written submissions will be helpful. 

 15 

SJH:   All right, so 4pm Thursday? 

 

MS HEWETT:   Okay. 

 

SJH:   And that map, including the Commercial zones that we are still in doubt 20 

about, things we should have heard about, hopefully they are not in 

dispute, but if they are we may have to reconvene, we will have to see 

about that. So by 4pm Thursday? 

 

MS HEWETT:   Thank you, sir. 25 

 

SJH:   And the same for the Crown? 

 

MS SCOTT:   Thank you, sir, yes. 

 30 

SJH:   And Ms Scott, you are down to present today but I take it you wish to 

avail yourself of the normal procedure and 4pm Monday? 

 

MS SCOTT:   Yes, sir, thank you. 

 35 

SJH:   All right, thank you.  You may be excused now, thank you. 

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [1.16 pm] 

 

SJH:  Now Mr Williams has advised us that he relies on his written submission 40 

which has been filed and Mineham and the Lyttelton Harbour Business 

Association have indicated they rely on that written statement so we 

come to Ms Everingham and Ms Hindin.  I understand you wish to 

speak to your statement?  Is that correct? 

 45 

MS EVERINGHAM:   Yes. 
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SJH:   If you just come forward to this microphone here please. 

 

MS EVERINGHAM:   This one here? 

 5 

SJH:   Yes.  Now which one of you is going to speak to it?  Okay, you just go 

right ahead. 
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<WENDY EVERINGHAM & LUCETTE HINDIN [1.17 pm] 
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MS EVERINGHAM:   I am not familiar with these processes, sorry. 

 

SJH:   No well you have filed a submission.  We have read that submission so 

this is your opportunity to - - -  

 5 

MS EVERINGHAM:   Yes. 

 

SJH:   - - - point out to us the important parts of that submission and anything 

else you wish to add from matters that have gone on since the 

submission was filed. 10 

 

MS EVERINGHAM:   I thought I might just introduce ourselves first. 

 

SJH:   Yes, thank you. 

 15 

MS EVERINGHAM:   So I am Wendy Everingham and I am from Project 

Lyttelton.  Project Lyttelton is a grassroots community organisation in 

Lyttelton all about creating a vibrant and sustainable community.  And 

to my left - - - 

 20 

MS HINDIN:   I am Lucette Hindin, I am the Farmers Market Development 

Manager with Project Lyttelton. 

 

SJH:   Thank you. 

 25 

MS EVERINGHAM:   And I should say I was one of the original founding 

members of the Farmers Market so I have had a long association with 

the Farmers Market.  I just really wanted to reaffirm the value of the 

Lyttelton Farmers Market to the Lyttelton community.  After the 

earthquakes Lyttelton was quite devastated and the Farmers Market 30 

was used as a tool to regenerate activity within Lyttelton.   

 

 So the Farmers Market has had a key role in revitalising the local 

community, so it has provided lots of opportunities for locals to sell 

their own goods down at the Farmers Market.  It has provided 35 

employment for quite a few people in our town, either as a stallholder 

or either as part of our Farmers Market team.  It has provided 

employment for local musicians.  The Farmers Market is used as a 

focus for that each week.  It has given local people a place to meet.  We 

have done quite a bit of survey work with the Farmers Market and 63 40 

percent of the people locally who filled in those surveys said they 

valued the Farmers Market as a place to connect with others.   

 

 It has been incredibly vital in getting other people to come to Lyttelton 

as well.  Lyttelton is still the end of the road, there is still no road that 45 

connects us via to Sumner, so we have to think of ways – we have got 
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no cruise ships anymore, we have lost quite a lot of business so the 

farmers market provided a focal point for people to come to Lyttelton 

still on a Saturday. So I think you can see the farmers markets been part 

of the lifeblood of our town and it is valued and appreciated by most 

people. 5 

 

  [1.20 pm] 

 

 There are a few things on prior submissions that I just wanted to refer 

to, there were questions asked about whether we had the relevant paper 10 

work to run the farmers market. We do have the required traffic 

management plans and health and safety plans, market management 

plans, there is a little bit of grey areas around, the market was moved to 

London Street under an order of CERA, I do not know “order”, I am 

not quite sure of the official terminology for that - so I do not believe 15 

we received a certificate from them, but all the paper work and 

everything went through and the farmers market has been trading down 

on London Street for quite a few years now. 

 

 I would also like to just thank the Council planner for saying that he 20 

felt the farmers market was a permitted activity on London Street. 

 

 And I would like to share a statement from Craig Mineham from the 

Lyttelton Harbour Business Association, he was supposed to come here 

this afternoon to talk to you but he was unable to come. So he said: 25 

 

 “Dear Wendy and Lucette unfortunately I will not be able to attend the 

hearing on Tuesday the 29th of September. However, this email is to 

confirm the Lyttelton Harbour Business Association fully supports the 

farmers market being able to use London Street as of right every 30 

Saturday to conduct the market. 

 

 In the aftermath of the Christchurch earthquakes, the farmers market 

became the important focal point and meeting place for locals and 

brought many people from other areas to Lyttelton, which has 35 

contributed significantly to the recovery and ongoing viability of many 

businesses in the town and continues to do so.” 

 

 So unless you have anything you want to – that is basically all that we 

wanted to say. 40 

 

SJH:   All right, thank you very much, I will just see if there are any questions. 

 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   No questions, sir. 

 45 

DR MITCHELL:   No thank you, sir, that is clear. 
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SJH:   Thank you.  

 

<WENDY EVERINGHAM & LUCETTE HINDIN WITHDREW [1.22 pm] 

 5 

SJH:   Is there a Ms Ross here? 

 

MS EVERINGHAM:   No. 

 

SJH:   So that is just a filed submission – okay then, thank you – and you were 10 

down to close but we have dealt with that, thank you, so thank you 

everybody for your attendance and your evidence and submission and 

we will of course reserve our decision and deliver it in due course after 

we receive closing submissions, thank you. 

 15 

MATTER ADJOURNED AT 1.23 PM ACCORDINGLY 


